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April 22, 2022 
 
 
Via Electronic Submission on EDIS 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112 
Washington, DC  20436 

 
 

 
 
Re: In the Matter of Certain Digital Set-Top Boxes and Systems and Services Including the 

Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-_____ 
 
 
Dear Secretary Barton: 

In accordance with the Commission’s Temporary Change to Filing Procedures, 85 Fed. 
Reg. 15798 (March 19, 2020), Complainant Broadband iTV, Inc. (“BBiTV”) submits the 
following documents in support of its request that the Commission institute an investigation 
under Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended: 
 

1. One (1) electronic copy of the verified Non-Confidential Complaint, Public Interest 
Statement, and Non-Confidential Exhibits to the Complaint, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §§ 
210.4(f)(9), 210.8(a)(1)(i), and 210.8(b); 

2. One (1) electronic copy of the Confidential Exhibits to the Complaint, pursuant to 19 
C.F.R. §§ 201.6(c) and 210.8(a)(1)(ii); 

3. One (1) electronic copy of certified versions of the Asserted Patents pursuant to 19 
C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(i) as Exhibits 1-4; 

4. One (1) electronic copy of non-certified versions of the assignments of the Asserted 
Patents pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii) as Exhibits 12-151; 

5. One (1) electronic copy of certified versions of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office 
prosecution history for U.S. Patent Nos. 9,866,909, 10,555,014, and 11,277,669, 
pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(c)(i) as Appendices A1, B1, and D1, respectively, and 

 
1 Certified versions of the assignments of the Asserted Patents have been ordered by BBiTV but 
have not yet been received. BBiTV will supplement its Complaint to include these certified 
versions once they are received. 
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a non-certified version of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office prosecution history 
for U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 as Appendix C12; 

6. One (1) electronic copy of each patent and applicable pages of each technical 
reference mentioned in the prosecution history of each Asserted Patent, pursuant to 
19 C.F.R. § 210.12(c)(2) as Appendices A2, B2, C2, and D2; and 

7. One (1) electronic copy of a letter and certification requesting confidential treatment 
for the information contained in Confidential Exhibits 6C through 8C, and 8.1C 
through 8.40C, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §§ 201.6(b) and 210.5(d). 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please contact me if you have any questions 
regarding this filing. 

Sincerely, 
 
/s/ Paul M. Bartkowski    
Paul M. Bartkowski 

 
2 A certified version of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office prosecution history for U.S. Patent 
No. 9,936,240 has been ordered by BBiTV but has not yet been received. BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include this certified version once it is received. 
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 

 
  

In the Matter of  
  

CERTAIN DIGITAL SET-TOP BOXES AND 

SYSTEMS AND SERVICES INCLUDING THE 

SAME 

Investigation No. 337-TA-___ 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

COMPLAINANT’S INITIAL STATEMENT REGARDING THE PUBLIC INTEREST 
 

Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.8(b), Complainant Broadband iTV, Inc., (“BBiTV”), 

submits this Statement Regarding the Public Interest. 19 C.F.R. § 210.8(b). 

The remedies sought by BBiTV will promote the public interest by enforcing intellectual 

property rights in the United States and will have no adverse impact on the public interest. 

The proposed investigation does not merit delegation of public interest to the 

Administrative Law Judge because digital video receivers, such as the set-top boxes at issue, are 

used “primarily for entertainment purposes” and because there are no significant public interest 

concerns with excluding those articles. See Certain Digital Video Receivers & Hardware & 

Software Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-1001 (Digital Video Receivers), Comm’n Op. at 

40–45 (Dec. 6, 2017). Thus, a limited exclusion order and cease-and-desist orders would not 

deprive the public of products necessary for some important health or welfare need. Nor would 

the requested remedies have any significant adverse impact on competitive conditions in the 

United States economy. 
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 The articles and services potentially subject to the requested remedial orders are used 
in the United States, primarily for entertainment purposes, to access television content. 

The proposed respondents’ products and services accused of infringement in the proposed 

investigation and potentially subject to remedial orders are (i) imported set-top boxes, including 

streaming devices, for receiving television services and (ii) services and systems that incorporate 

the imported set-top boxes, and components of such systems. They are used by subscribers, 

primarily for entertainment purposes, to access television content, such as movies and TV shows. 

Indeed, in Digital Video Receivers, the Commission observed that Comcast’s accused digital 

video receivers “are used primarily for entertainment purposes.” Comm’n Op. at 40. 

 The requested remedial orders would not have any significant adverse effect on public 
health, safety, or welfare conditions in the United States. 

The accused products relate to consumer entertainment and do not implicate public 

health, safety, or welfare concerns. See Digital Video Receivers, Comm’n Op. at 40; Certain 

Digital Televisions & Prods. Containing Same & Methods of Using Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-617, 

Comm’n Op. at 15 (Apr. 23, 2009) (“[W]e conclude that concerns of public health and welfare 

are not implicated here because [digital televisions] are not the type of products that affect public 

health and welfare.”). In fact, “there are numerous other sources [than cable TV] through which 

the public obtains [] information regarding public health and safety,” including “mobile phones, 

tablets, cable TV substitutes (such as direct broadcast satellite providers), and other technological 

alternatives.” Digital Video Receivers, Comm’n Op. at 41. 

On the other hand, the issuance of a limited exclusion order and cease and desist orders 

against the proposed respondents will benefit the public interest by encouraging the enforcement 

of intellectual property rights in the United States, which promotes innovation and investment in 

research and development, including in health and welfare. 
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 Like or directly competitive articles and services could replace the subject articles and 
services if the subject articles were to be excluded. 

Consumers of the accused products and services have and will continue to have access to 

like or directly competitive products and services, so the accused products’ exclusion from 

importation will not harm the public interest. For example, DISH Network L.L.C. is licensed 

under the asserted patents. The DISH family of companies offers like or directly competitive 

products and services that provide consumers with access to television content. 

Specifically, DISH offers pay-TV services under the DISH TV brand and the SLING TV 

brand. Unlike the proposed respondents’ cable-TV services, DISH TV is a digital broadcast 

satellite TV service and is thus available in all 50 states, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. 

See https://bit.ly/3JzCFz0 (“If you can see the sky, you can get Dish Network satellite TV 

service.”) Comcast’s 2021 Annual Report notes that “DBS providers, including DIRECTV and 

DISH Network, [] transmit satellite signals to substantially all U.S. households to provide video 

programming and other information similar to our video services.” P. 5. Consumers can also 

access directly competitive television services and content with a SLING TV subscription and an 

Internet-connected device, such as a personal computer, mobile phone, or set-top box. 

Additionally, consumers can access television content from like or directly competitive 

articles and services that do not infringe the asserted patents because they cannot provide access 

to VOD services. Such articles include televisions and set-top boxes that receive and decode 

over-the-air television signals, as well as digital video recorders (DVRs) that can record cable 

TV content for later viewing.  
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 The complainant, its licensees, and third parties have the capacity to replace the volume 
of articles subject to the requested remedial orders in a commercially reasonable time 
in the United States. 

BBiTV’s licensee, DISH, is a major television service provider that, on information and 

belief, has the capacity to increase the availability of like or directly competitive products and 

services should demand require. Moreover, replacement articles are not even required for 

consumers to access to pay-TV service. In fact, anyone with a SLING TV subscription can 

instantly access television content, including VOD content, through an existing Internet-

connected device with a web browser or the SLING TV application. 

Still further, third parties have the capacity to supply like, noninfringing articles and 

services. Such articles include televisions, set-top boxes, and digital video recorders that can 

supply consumers with live or recorded television content.  

 The requested remedial orders would not have a significant negative impact on 
consumers in the United States. 

The requested remedial orders will have little to no impact on consumers. The act of 

“cutting the cord” has become commonplace among consumers, who now have more freedom to 

choose their television service than ever before. Among the alternatives to traditional cable TV 

are DISH TV and SLING TV services. Those services offer consumers with like or directly 

competitive offerings and can be provided at sufficient capacity in a commercially reasonable 

time such that issuance of the requested remedies would have little to no impact on consumers. 

Additionally, consumers have available to them in the United States a wide variety of 

noninfringing like or directly competitive products, such as televisions, set-top boxes, and digital 

video recorders that supply live or recorded television content instead of VOD content. 
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CONCLUSION 

The issuance of a limited exclusion order and a cease-and-desist order in the requested 

investigation against the infringing products will have no significant adverse effects on the public 

health, safety, or welfare in the United States, competitive conditions in the United States 

economy, the production of like or competitive articles in the United States, or the availability of 

such products and related services to consumers. 

 

Dated: April 22, 2022 Respectfully submitted, 
  
 /s/ Paul M. Bartkowski 
 Robert F. Kramer 
 Robert C. Mattson 
 KRAMER DAY ALBERTI LIM  
  TONKOVICH & BELLOLI LLP 
 577 Airport Blvd., Suite 250 
 Burlingame, CA 94010 
 Phone: 650-825-4300 
 Fax: 650-460-8443 
  
 Paul M. Bartkowski 
 Thomas R. Burns, Jr.  
 BARTKOWSKI PLLC 
 6803 Whittier Ave., Suite 200A 
 McLean, Virginia 22101 
 Phone: 571-533-3581 
  
 Counsel for Complainant 

Broadband iTV, Inc. 
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April 22, 2022 
 
 
Via Electronic Submission on EDIS 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112 
Washington, DC  20436 

 
 

 
 
Re: In the Matter of Certain Digital Set-Top Boxes and Systems and Services Including the 

Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-_____ 
 
 
Dear Secretary Barton: 

In accordance with 19 C.F.R. §§ 201.6(b)(1), 201.8(g) and 210.5, Complainant 
Broadband iTV, Inc., requests confidential treatment for the business information contained in 
Confidential Exhibits 6C through 8C, 8.1C through 8.40C to the Verified Complaint.  

  
The information for which confidential treatment is sought is, or would disclose, 

proprietary commercial information not otherwise publicly available. Specifically, Confidential 
Exhibits 6C through 8C, and 8.1C through 8.40C disclose confidential information relating to 
financial and licensing information of Complainant.  

  
The information described above qualifies as confidential business information pursuant 

to Rule 201.6(a) because: (1) it is not publicly available; (2) unauthorized disclosure of such 
information could cause substantial harm to the competitive position of Complainant or its 
licensees; and (3) the disclosure of such information could impair the Commission’s ability to 
obtain information necessary to perform its statutory function.  

  
Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please contact me if you have any questions 

regarding this filing 

Sincerely, 
 
/s/ Paul M. Bartkowski    
Paul M. Bartkowski 



 

  

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 

 
  

In the Matter of  
  

CERTAIN DIGITAL SET-TOP BOXES AND 

SYSTEMS AND SERVICES INCLUDING THE 

SAME 

Investigation No. 337-TA-___ 
 
 

  
 

 
CERTIFICATION REGARDING REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT 

 
I, Robert C. Mattson, counsel for Complainant Broadband iTV, Inc., (“BBiTV”), certify 

as follows: 

1. I have reviewed BBiTV’s Verified Complaint and Confidential Exhibits 6C through 

8C, and 8.1C through 8.40C (“the CBI Exhibits”) filed concurrently with this Certification;  

2. The CBI Exhibits contain the following confidential business information of BBiTV: 

a. proprietary information not available to the public;  

b. confidential information related to the terms of agreements between Complainant 

and other parties regarding the Asserted Patents. 

I certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on April 

22, 2022. 

 
/s/ Robert C. Mattson 
Robert C. Mattson 
 
Counsel for Complainant 
Broadband iTV, Inc. 



 
 

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 

 
  

In the Matter of  
  

CERTAIN DIGITAL SET-TOP BOXES AND 

SYSTEMS AND SERVICES INCLUDING THE 

SAME 

Investigation No. 337-TA-_____ 
 
 

  
 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINANT OF BROADBAND ITV INC. 
UNDER SECTION 337 OF THE TARIFF ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED 

 
COMPLAINANT:  PROPOSED RESPONDENTS: 
   
Broadband iTV, Inc.  Comcast Corporation 
900 South Capital of Texas Highway  One Comcast Center 
Building IV, Suite 480  1701 John F. Kennedy Blvd. 
Austin, Texas 78746  Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Phone: 415-889-5091   
  Comcast Cable Communications, LLC 
COUNSEL FOR COMPLAINANT:  One Comcast Center 
  1701 John F. Kennedy Blvd. 
Robert F. Kramer  Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Robert C. Mattson   
KRAMER DAY ALBERTI LIM  NBCUniversal Media, LLC 
 TONKOVICH & BELLOLI LLP  100 Universal City Plaza 
577 Airport Blvd., Suite 250  Universal City, CA 91608 
Burlingame, CA 94010   
Phone: 650-825-4300  Charter Communications, Inc. 
Fax: 650-460-8443  400 Washington Blvd. 
  Stamford, CT 06902 
Paul M. Bartkowski   
Thomas R. Burns, Jr.   Charter Communications Operating, LLC 
BARTKOWSKI PLLC  12405 Powerscourt Dr. 
6803 Whittier Ave., Suite 200A  St. Louis, MO 63131 
McLean, Virginia 22101   
Phone: 571-533-3581  Charter Communications Holding  
  Company, LLC 
  12405 Powerscourt Dr. 
  St. Louis, MO 63131 
   
   
   



 
 

 
  Spectrum Management Holding 
  Company, LLC 
  12405 Powerscourt Drive 
  St. Louis, Missouri 63131 
   
  Altice USA, Inc. 
  One Court Square West 
  Long Island City, NY 11101 
   
  CSC Holdings, LLC 
  One Court Square  
  Long Island City, NY 11101 
   
  Cablevision Systems Corp. 
  1111 Stewart Ave 
  Bethpage, New York 11714 
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EXHIBITS 

No. Description 

1 Certified Copy of U.S. Patent No. 9,866,909 

2 Certified Copy of U.S. Patent No. 10,555,014 

3 Certified Copy of U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 

4 Certified Copy of U.S. Patent No. 11,277,669 

5 List of Foreign Counterparts to the Asserted Patents 

6C Confidential: Identification of Each Licensee Under Each Involved U.S. Patent 

7C Confidential: DISH License Agreement 

8C Confidential: Domestic Industry Exhibit 

8.1C-
8.40C 

Confidential: Confidential Exhibits in Support of Domestic Industry Exhibit 8C 

9 Comcast 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K 

10  Charter 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K 

11 Altice 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K 

12 Assignment Records of U.S. Patent No. 9,866,9091 

13 Assignment Records of U.S. Patent No. 10,555,014 

14 Assignment Records of U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 

15 Assignment Records of U.S. Patent No. 11,277,669 

16 
X1 TV Box Comparison, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/x1-hub-vs-
companion-box (printed 3/9/2022) 

17 
CableLabs Energy Reporting _ Spectrum (Charter) STB - CableLabs Energy 
Reporting, https://energy.cablelabs.com/charter/ (printed 3/31/2022) 

18 
CableLabs Energy Reporting _ Altice USA STB - CableLabs Energy Reporting, 
https://energy.cablelabs.com/alticeusa/ (printed 3/1/2022) 

19 
What’s Included in an X1 Getting Started Kit - Xfinity Support, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/what-is-included-in-an-x1-self-install-kit 
(printed 2/28/2022) 

20 
Energy Usage of Your Comcast TV Box - Xfinity Support, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/set-top-box-energy-usage (printed 
2/28/2022) 

21 Image of “Made in Taiwan” label on Comcast’s Xfinity XG1 TV Box  

 
1 Certified versions of Exhibits 12-15, the assignment records for the Asserted Patents, have been 
ordered by BBiTV but have not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii), 
BBiTV will supplement its Complaint to include certified versions of Exhibits 12-15, the 
assignment records for the Asserted Patents, once they are received. 
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22 
Image of “Designed with [love] in Philadelphia Assembled in China” label on a 
Comcast Xfinity XG1v4 TV Box 

23 
Image of “Designed with [love] in Philadelphia Made in China” label on a Comcast 
Xfinity XiD streaming TV Box 

24 
How to Return Your Spectrum Equipment _ Spectrum Support, 
https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/returning-your-spectrum-equipment/ (printed 
3/1/2022) 

25 
Spectrum Receiver Self-Installation - Spectrum Support, 
https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/digital-receiver-self-install (printed 3/1/2022) 

26 Image of “Made in China” label on Charter Spectrum 101T 

27 

Unreturned-Equipment, 
https://www.optimum.net/cdn/static.tvlistings.optimum.net/ool/static/prod/documents
/Unreturned-Equipment.pdf?_ga=2.13073783.1137194283.1646231301-
1279494665.1646231301 (printed 3/2/2022) 

28 

General Terms and Conditions of Service (Residential) _ Optimum, 
https://www.optimum.com/terms-of-
service/residential?_ga=2.44758564.1019554620.1646231554-
715615936.1646231554 (printed 3/2/2022) 

29 
Optimum _ Altice One Picker, https://www.optimum.net/support/alticeone-picker 
(printed 3/2/2022) 

30 Import Genius Importation Records for Altice STB 

31.1 Letter of 12/10/21 from BBiTV to Comcast 

31.2 Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to Comcast 

32 
Xfinity X1_ Our Best Live TV & More, https://www.xfinity.com/learn/digital-cable-
tv/x1?INTCMP=TVStreamingLearn_X1_Entertainment_LearnDCT (printed 
2/24/2022). 

33 
Xfinity TV and Streaming - Choose Your Way to Watch Your Favorites, 
https://www.xfinity.com/learn/digital-cable-tv#flexstreaming (printed 2/27/2022). 

34 
Learn More About Our Free Xfinity X1 and Flex Apps - Xfinity Support, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/tv-movies-apps (printed 3/8/2022) 

35 
NBC Peacock now included with Xfinity Internet, https://www.xfinity.com/hub/tv-
video/peacock-on-xfinity (printed 3/8/2022) 

36 
Watch TV Live and On Demand with Xfinity Stream - Xfinity Support, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/live-tv-streaming (printed 3/8/2022) 

37 
What devices and platforms are supported by Peacock, 
https://www.peacocktv.com/help/article/what-devices-and-platforms-are-supported-
by-peacock (printed 3/8/2022) 

38.1 
Infringement Claim Chart for Comcast Accused Products and U.S. Patent No. 
9,866,909 
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38.2 
Infringement Claim Chart for Comcast Accused Products with Tuners and U.S. 
Patent No. 10,555,014 

38.3 
Infringement Claim Chart for Comcast Accused Products, Xfinity Stream or Peacock 
App, and U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 

38.4 
Infringement Claim Chart for Comcast Accused Products, Xfinity Stream or Peacock 
App, and U.S. Patent No. 11,277,669 

38.5 Image of “Arris XG1v4” bottom label (SN: MA1937PT9263) 

38.6 Image of “Arris XG1v4” box front panel 

38.7 Image of “Arris XG1v4” box back panel and connectors 

38.8 Intentionally Omitted 

38.9 Peacock App on Xfinity Flex and Xfinity X1, Xfinity website, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/peacock-app-overview (printed 3/11/2022) 

38.10 What devices and platforms are supported by Peacock? Peacock TV LLC website,  
https://www.peacocktv.com/help/article/what-devices-and-platforms-are-supported-
by-peacock (printed 3/9/2022) 

38.11 Intentionally Omitted 

38.12 Intentionally Omitted 

38.13 Image of Xfinity Remote, New Generation - Front 

38.14 NBC, Peacock manage, deliver multiscreen assets with Comcast Technology, Rapid 
TV News website, https://www.rapidtvnews.com/2021080460971/nbc-peacock-
manage-deliver-multiscreen-assets-with-comcast-technology.html#axzz7QsPdQf95 
(printed 3/15/2022) 

38.15 Peacock Achieves a Fast and Flawless Launch Using AWS Solutions, Amazon 
website, https://aws.amazon.com/solutions/case-studies/peacock-case-study/ (printed 
3/15/2022) 

38.16 AWS Elemental MediaStore, Amazon website, https://aws.amazon.com/mediastore/ 
(printed 3/15/2022) 

38.17 Intentionally Omitted 

38.18 Over-The -Top Video on Demand, Comcast Technology Solutions (2017) 

38.19 Xfinity TV – Getting Started Guide, Comcast (2016) 

38.20 Intentionally Omitted 

38.21 Intentionally Omitted 

38.22 Changing the Daily Update Time for Your X1 TV Boxes, Xfinity website, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/changing-daily-upd (printed 3/23/2022) 

38.23 How do I link my Xfinity account if I am already signed up for Peacock? Peacock TV 
website, https://www.peacocktv.com/help/article/link-my-xfinity-account-if-i-am-
already-signed-up-for-peacock (printed 3/24/2022) 

38.24 Galaxy S21 FE 5G, Samsung website, 
https://www.samsung.com/us/smartphones/galaxy-s21-5g/galaxy-s21-fe-5g/ (printed 
4/20/2022) 
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38.25 Samsung Galaxy S21 FE 5G review: The fan edition smartphone goes into the next 
round, Samsung website, https://www.notebookcheck.neUSamsung-Galaxy-S21-FE-
5G-review-The-fan-edition-smartphone-goes-into-the-next-round.598090.0.htm1 
(printed 3/8/2022) 

38.26 Samsung Galaxy S21 FE 5G Smartphone Review, Ephotozine website, 
https://www.ephotozine.com/article/viamsung-galaxy-s21-fe-5g-smartphone-review-
35919 (printed 3/8/2022) 

38.27 Intentionally Omitted 

38.28 Is Broadband Internet Right for You? Learn More About Broadband, Xfinity 
website, https://www.xfinity.com/hub/internet/broadband (printed 3/23/2022) 

38.29 Peacock App on Xfinity Flex and Xfinity X1, Xfinity website, 
https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/peacock-app-overview (printed 3/23/2022) 
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supplement its Complaint to include the certified copy once it is received. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Broadband iTV, Inc. (“BBiTV” or “Complainant”) requests that the United States 

International Trade Commission institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“Section 337”). 

2. BBiTV brings this action to remedy violations of Section 337 arising from the 

unlawful and unauthorized importation into the United States, the sale for importation into the 

United States, and/or the sale within the United States after importation, of certain set-top boxes, 

streaming set-top boxes, and systems and services containing the same (the “Accused Products”) 

that infringe one or more claims of U.S. Patent No. 9,866,9093 (“the ’909 patent”); U.S. Patent 

No. 10,555,0144 (“the ’014 patent”); U.S. Patent No. 9,936,2405 (“the ’240 patent”); and U.S. 

Patent No. 11,277,6696 (“the ’669 patent”) (collectively, the “Asserted Patents”). 

3. The Accused Products infringe at least the following claims of one or more 

Asserted Patents in violation of Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i) and 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) and (b), either 

literally or under the doctrine of equivalents: 

Asserted Patent Infringed Claims 

U.S. Patent No. 9,866,909 1–4 and 10–16 

U.S. Patent No. 10,555,014 1, 3–5, 7, 9, 10, and 12 

U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 1–9 and 12–15 

U.S. Patent No. 11,277,669 1–3 and 5–16 
 

4. The proposed respondents are Comcast Corporation, Comcast Cable 

Communications, LLC, and NBCUniversal Media, LLC (collectively with their subsidiaries 

 
3 A certified copy is attached as Exhibit 1. 
4 A certified copy is attached as Exhibit 2. 
5 A certified copy is attached as Exhibit 3. 
6 A certified copy is attached as Exhibit 4. 
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referred to hereinafter as “Comcast”); Charter Communications, Inc., Charter Communications 

Operating, LLC, Charter Communications Holding Company, LLC, and Spectrum Management 

Holding Company, LLC (collectively with their subsidiaries referred to hereinafter as “Charter”); 

and Altice USA, Inc. and its subsidiaries CSC Holdings, LLC and Cablevision Systems Corp. 

(collectively with their subsidiaries referred to hereinafter as “Altice”). 

5. On information and belief, and as set forth in this Complaint, each of the proposed 

respondents imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United States, and/or 

sells in the United States after importation one or more Accused Products that infringe one or 

more Asserted Patents, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

6. A domestic industry exists under 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(2) and (3) as a result of 

activities and investments in the United States related to products that practice the Asserted 

Patents. These include the current and continuing significant domestic investments in plant and 

equipment, significant employment of labor and capital, and substantial investments in the 

exploitation of the Asserted Patents through engineering and research and development by at 

least Complainant’s licensee, DISH Network L.L.C. and its affiliates (collectively, “DISH”), 

which is a U.S. company licensed to practice the Asserted Patents. See Ex. 6C, Ex. 7C, Ex. 8C. 

7. BBiTV seeks, as relief for the unfair acts of proposed respondents, the following 

from the Commission: 

a. an investigation into proposed respondents’ violations; 

b. a public hearing; 

c. a limited exclusion order directed to each respondent barring from entry into 

the United States the Accused Products manufactured by or on behalf of, or imported by or on 

behalf of, the proposed respondents and that infringe the Asserted Patents; 
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d. a cease and desist order directed to each respondent prohibiting any of the 

following activities in the United States: importing, selling, offering for sale, leasing, offering for 

lease, renting, offering for rent, marketing, advertising, distributing, transferring (except for 

exportation), soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for sales, testing, demonstrating, warehousing 

inventory for distribution, programming, repairing, maintaining, using, transferring, and other 

commercial activity relating to the Accused Products; 

e. the imposition of a bond on importation and sales of Accused Products 

during the Presidential Review Period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j); and 

f. such other relief as the Commission deems appropriate. 

II. COMPLAINANT 

8. BBiTV is a Delaware corporation with offices at 900 South Capital of Texas 

Highway, Building IV, Suite 480, Austin, Texas 78746. 

9. BBiTV is a developer of interactive television and video-on-demand (VOD) 

technology. BBiTV developed and owns a portfolio of more than 70 issued U.S. patents, 

comprised of technologies developed by BBiTV inventor and chief technology officer Milton 

Diaz Perez, based on his work over several decades. BBiTV developed the underlying 

technology that all of its patents derive from and has not acquired any of its patents from third 

parties. 

10. One of BBiTV’s licensees, DISH, is a U.S. company incorporated in Colorado and 

headquartered at 9601 S. Meridian Boulevard, Englewood, Colorado 80112.  

III. PROPOSED RESPONDENTS 

 Comcast 

11. Comcast Corporation is a Pennsylvania corporation with a principal place of 
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business at One Comcast Center, 1701 John F. Kennedy Blvd., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

19103. Comcast Corporation’s cable communications operations are conducted through its 

subsidiaries, including Comcast Cable Communications, LLC. Ex. 9, Comcast 2021 Annual 

Report, p. 1. Comcast Corporation’s cable communications operations include the provision of 

imported set-top boxes to households and business in conjunction with cable-television service. 

12. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC is a Delaware corporation with a principal 

place of business at One Comcast Center, 1701 John F. Kennedy Blvd., Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania 19103. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC, including its subsidiaries, operates 

Comcast Corporation’s cable television segment and provides broadband, video, and other 

services to residential and business subscribers in the United States under the Xfinity brand. Ex. 

9, p. 1. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC purchases set-top box products, including Xfinity 

X1 TV boxes and Xfinity streaming TV boxes, which are manufactured abroad by third parties 

according to Comcast’s specifications and are subsequently distributed by Comcast to certain of 

its subscribers in the United States. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC provides Comcast’s 

X1 and Flex video services, including On Demand service, to those subscribers through the set-

top boxes and mobile applications, among other ways. 

13. NBCUniversal Media, LLC is a Delaware company with a principal place of 

business at 100 Universal City Plaza, Universal City, CA 91608. Peacock is a premium direct-to-

customer (DTC) streaming service within Comcast’s NBCUniversal business segment. Ex. 9, p. 

1. The Peacock app is available to consumers over the Internet directly and through distributors 

and other platforms in the United States, including through Comcast’s imported set-top boxes 

supported by its X1 and Flex services. Ex. 9, pp. 8, 72. 

14. On information and belief, Comcast designs certain Accused Products that are 
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manufactured and imported on its behalf, constituting importation by Comcast. See Comcast 

Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1309 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission’s findings of importation 

by or for Comcast of articles for infringing use are supported by substantial evidence.”). Comcast 

then provides those products to customers as part of its sale of televisions services, constituting 

sale within the United States after importation. 

 Charter 

15. Charter Communications, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with headquarters at 400 

Washington Blvd., Stamford, Connecticut 06902. The other Charter Respondents are direct or 

indirect subsidiaries of Charter Communications, Inc., whose principal asset is a controlling 

equity interest in Charter Communications Holdings, LLC, an indirect owner of Charter 

Communications Operating, LLC. Ex. 10, Charter 2021 Annual Report, p. F-8. Charter 

Communications, Inc., through its subsidiaries, conducts cable communications operations, 

including the provision of imported set-top boxes to households and business in conjunction with 

cable-television service. 

16. Charter Communications Operating, LLC is a Delaware company with its principal 

place of business at 12405 Powerscourt Dr., St. Louis, Missouri 63131. Substantially all the 

operations of Charter, including its provision of television service through imported set-top 

boxes supplied to subscribers, reside under Charter Communications Operating, LLC. Ex. 10, p. 

F-8. 

17. Charter Communications Holding Company, LLC is a Delaware company with its 

principal place of business at 12405 Powerscourt Dr., St. Louis, Missouri 63131. Charter 

Communications Holding Company, LLC provides management services for the cable systems, 

which include imported set-top boxes supplied to subscribers, owned or operated by its 
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subsidiaries. Ex. 10, p. F-38. 

18. Spectrum Management Holding Company, LLC is a Delaware limited liability 

company with its principal place of business at 12405 Powerscourt Drive, St. Louis, Missouri 

63131. Spectrum Management Holding Company, LLC provides management services for the 

cable systems, which include imported set-top boxes supplied to subscribers, owned or operated 

by its subsidiaries. Ex. 10, p. F-38. 

19. Charter Communications, Inc., Spectrum Management Holding Company, LLC, 

and Charter Communications Holding Company, LLC provide management services for the 

cable systems owned or operated by their subsidiaries. Ex. 10, p. F-38. Such cable systems 

include imported set-top boxes that Charter provides to its subscribers. 

20. Charter is a broadband and cable operator that provides television services to 

subscribers under the Spectrum brand. Ex. 10, p.1. Charter provides such services on a variety of 

platforms, including through digital set-top boxes that are imported into the United States. Ex. 

10, p. 5. Charter’s video service also includes access to an interactive programming guide and in 

virtually all of its U.S. footprint, VOD or pay-per-view services. Ex. 10, p. 5.  

21. On information and belief, Charter designs certain Accused Products that are 

manufactured and imported on its behalf, constituting importation by Charter. See Comcast 

Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1309 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission’s findings of importation 

by or for Comcast of articles for infringing use are supported by substantial evidence.”). Charter 

then provides those products to customers as part of its sale of televisions services, constituting 

sale within the United States after importation. 

 Altice 

22. Altice USA, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 
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One Court Square West, Long Island City, New York 11101. Altice USA, Inc. is a 

communications and media holding company that, through its direct and indirect affiliates 

(including CSC Holdings, LLC), delivers broadband, video, mobile, and other services to its 

direct and indirect affiliates’ subscribers. These services include video-on-demand (VOD) 

services branded under the Suddenlink and Optimum names and provided by subsidiaries of 

CSC Holdings, LLC.  

23. CSC Holdings, LLC is a Delaware company with its principal place of business at 

One Court Square, Long Island City, New York 11101. CSC Holdings, LLC is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Altice USA, Inc. 

24. Cablevision Systems Corp. is a Delaware company with its principal place of 

business at 1111 Stewart Ave., Bethpage, New York 11714-3533. Cablevision Systems Corp. 

provides broadband communications and video services, including VOD services, through its 

affiliates. 

25. Altice purchases set-top boxes that are manufactured abroad from a limited number 

of vendors because Altice’s cable systems use one or two proprietary technology architectures. 

Ex. 11, p. 9. Such set-top boxes include the Altice One. 

26. On information and belief, Altice designs certain Accused Products that are 

manufactured and imported on its behalf, constituting importation by Altice. See Comcast Corp. 

v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1309 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission’s findings of importation by or 

for Comcast of articles for infringing use are supported by substantial evidence.”). Altice then 

provides those products to customers as part of its sale of televisions services, constituting sale 

within the United States after importation. 
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IV. TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE 

27. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.12(a)(12) and 210.10(b)(1), the categories of products 

and/or activities accused of infringing the Asserted Patents are: (i) imported set-top boxes, 

including streaming devices, for receiving television services and (ii) services and systems that 

incorporate the imported set-top boxes, and components of such systems, including servers, 

mobile streaming apps, content delivery networks, and ingestion tools.  

28. The Asserted Patents generally relate to improvements to video-on-demand and 

electronic program-guide technologies. Specifically, the Asserted Patents provide solutions to 

improve and streamline how television content and metadata is organized, selected, and 

ultimately presented to subscribers through a set-top box. 

29. The proposed respondents infringe the Asserted Patents through the provision of 

television services and the sale for importation into the United States, importation into the United 

States, and/or sale within the United States after importation of Accused Products. 

30. Comcast’s Accused Products include, but are not limited to, its set-top boxes that 

support Xfinity television service, such as the XG1, XG1v1, XG1v3, XG1v4, XG2, XiD X1, 

RNG150N P2, RNG150N, PX022ANC, PX022ANM, AX014ANC, AX014ANM, Xi, Xi3, XiD, 

XiD-C, XiD-P, Xi5, Xi6, and XiOne-SC (collectively, “Comcast Accused Products”). Ex. 16, X1 

TV Box Comparison, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/x1-hub-vs-companion-box 

(printed 3/9/2022). 

31. Charter’s Accused Products include, but are not limited to, its set-top boxes that 

support Spectrum TV service, such as the 101H, 101T, 110A, 110H, 110T, 200H, 201H, 201T, 

210A, 210H, 210T, DCX3200M/P3-Spectrum, DCX3220E-Spectrum, DCX3510-Spectrum, and 

DCX3520E-Spectrum set-top boxes (collectively, “Charter Accused Products”). Ex. 17. 

32. Altice’s Accused Products include, but are not limited to, its set-top boxes that 
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support its Altice, Optimum, or Suddenlink branded services, such as the Altice One and Altice 

One Mini set-top boxes (collectively, “Altice Accused Products”). Ex. 18. 

33. Without discovery, BBiTV cannot exhaustively identify all devices sold for 

importation into the United States, imported into the United States, and/or sold within the United 

States after importation that infringe the Asserted Patents. BBiTV reserves its right to 

supplement its allegations, to further amend this Complaint, and to add respondents and accused 

products in the future, if necessary, based on discovery received during the Investigation. 

V. ASSERTED PATENTS 

 U.S. Patent No. 9,866,909 

1. Identification of the ’909 patent and ownership by BBiTV 

34. The ’909 patent, titled “Video-On-Demand Content Delivery System for Providing 

Video-On-Demand Services to TV Service Subscribers,” issued on January 9, 2018, naming 

Milton Diaz Perez as the inventor. Ex. 1. The ’909 patent issued from application No. 

15/582,155, which is a continuation application that claims the benefit of application No. 

15/190,954, filed on June 23, 2016, now U.S. Patent No. 9,641,896, which is a continuation of 

application No. 14/978,881, filed on Dec. 22, 2015, now U.S. Patent No. 9,386,340, which is a 

continuation of application No. 14/703, 597, filed on May 4, 2015, now U.S. Patent No. 9, 232, 

275, which is a continuation of application No. 12/852,663, filed on Aug. 9, 2010, now U.S. 

Patent No. 9,078,016, which is a division of application No. 11/952,552, filed on Dec. 7, 2007, 

now U.S. Patent No. 7,774,819, which is a division of application No. 10/909,192, filed on Jul. 

30, 2004, now U.S. Patent No. 7,590,997. The ’909 patent expires on July 30, 2024. 

35. BBiTV owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the ’909 patent. A 

certified copy of the ’909 patent is attached as Exhibit 1. A copy of the assignment records for 
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the ’909 patent is attached as Exhibit 12.7 Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c), BBiTV 

submits a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’909 patent, as well as copies of the 

applicable pages from each technical reference cited in the prosecution history. Appx. A1 and 

A2.  

2. Nontechnical description of the ’909 patent 

36. The ’909 patent is generally directed to technological improvements to video-on-

demand (VOD) and electronic program guide (EPG) technologies in which video providers can 

upload VOD content and metadata to a Web-based content management system over the 

Internet, and the uploaded metadata is used to generate VOD content menus through a set-top 

box. The uploaded metadata may include information such as category and subcategory 

information, title information, and time information. The content menus may be organized as 

hierarchical menus using the uploaded category and subcategory metadata. The menus may be 

populated using the uploaded title information. The time information enables the content 

provider to further control when the content is made available for viewing. The use of provider-

designated metadata streamlines the ingestion process by allowing a content provider to maintain 

at least some control over how its content is presented, and the further use of templates to present 

the metadata further reduces overhead for TV providers and allows TV providers to scale their 

VOD offerings as VOD becomes more widely adopted. 

3. Foreign counterparts of the ’909 patent 

37. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 5 is a list of each foreign 

patent, each foreign patent application (not already issued as a patent) and each foreign patent 

 
7 A certified version of Exhibit 12, the assignment records for the ’909 patent, has been ordered 
by BBiTV but has not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii), BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include the certified version of Exhibits 12, the assignment records 
for the ’909 patent, once it is received. 
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application that has been denied, abandoned, or withdrawn corresponding to the ’909 patent, 

with an indication of the prosecution status of each such patent application. 

 U.S. Patent No. 10,555,014 

1. Identification of the ’014 patent and ownership by BBiTV 

38. The ’014 patent, titled “System for Addressing On-Demand TV Program Content 

on TV Services Platform of a Digital TV Services Provider,” issued February 4, 2020, naming 

Milton Diaz Perez as the inventor. Ex. 2. The ’014 patent issued from application No. 

16/269,721, which is a continuation application that claims the benefit of application No. 

16/023,875, filed on Jun. 29, 2018, now U.S. Patent No. 10,341,699, which is a continuation of 

application No. 15/251,865, filed on Aug. 30, 2016, now U.S. Patent No. 10,028,027, which is a 

continuation of application No. 14/827,113, filed on Aug. 14, 2015, now U.S. Patent No. 

9,491,497, which is a continuation of application No. 12/632,745, filed on Dec. 7, 2009, now 

U.S. Patent No. 9,113,228, which is a division of application No. 11/685,188, filed on Mar. 12, 

2007, now U.S. Patent No. 7,631,336, which is a continuation-in-part of application No. 

10/909,192, filed on Jul. 30, 2004, now U.S. Patent No. 7,590,997. The ’014 patent expires on 

July 30, 2024. 

39. BBiTV owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the ’014 patent. A 

certified copy of the ’014 patent is attached as Exhibit 2. A copy of the assignment records for 

the ’014 patent is attached as Exhibit 13.8 Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c), BBiTV 

submits a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’014 patent, as well as copies of the 

 
8 A certified version of Exhibit 13, the assignment records for the ’014 patent, has been ordered 
by BBiTV but has not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii), BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include the certified version of Exhibits 13, the assignment records 
for the ’014 patent, once it is received. 
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applicable pages from each technical reference cited in the prosecution history. Appx. B1 and 

B2. 

2. Nontechnical description of the ’014 patent 

40. The ’014 patent is generally directed to technological improvements to video-on-

demand (VOD) and electronic program guide (EPG) technologies in which video providers can 

upload VOD content and metadata to a Web-based content management system over the 

Internet, and the uploaded metadata is used to generate an EPG through a subscriber device, such 

as a set-top box. The uploaded metadata may include information such as category and 

subcategory information, title information, and images. The content menus may be organized as 

hierarchical menus using the uploaded category and subcategory metadata. The menus may be 

populated using the uploaded title information and images. The use of provider-designated 

metadata streamlines the ingestion process by allowing a content provider to maintain at least 

some control over how its content is presented, and the further use of templates to present the 

metadata further reduces overhead for TV providers and allows TV providers to scale their VOD 

offerings as VOD becomes more widely adopted. 

3. Foreign counterparts of the ’014 patent 

41. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 5 is a list of each foreign 

patent, each foreign patent application (not already issued as a patent) and each foreign patent 

application that has been denied, abandoned, or withdrawn corresponding to the ’014 patent, 

with an indication of the prosecution status of each such patent application. 

 U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 

1. Identification of the ’240 patent and ownership by BBiTV 

42. The ’240 patent, titled “Dynamic Adjustment of Electronic Program Guide Displays 

Based on Viewer Preferences for Minimizing Navigation in VOD Program Selection,” issued 
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April 8, 2018, naming Milton Diaz Perez as the inventor. Ex. 3. The ’240 patent issued from 

application No. 15/582,099, which is a continuation application that claims the benefit of 

application No. 15/002,011, filed on Jan. 20,2016, now Pat. No. 9,641,902, which is a 

continuation of application No. 12/869,534, filed on Aug. 26, 2010, now Pat. No. 9,344,765, 

which is a division of application No. 11/768,895, filed on Jun. 26, 2007, now Pat. No. 

9,584,868. The ’240 patent expires on June 26, 2027. 

43. BBiTV owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the ’240 patent. A 

certified copy of the ’240 patent is attached as Exhibit 3. A copy of the assignment records for 

the ’240 patent is attached as Exhibit 14.9 BBiTV submits a copy of the prosecution history of 

the ’240 patent, as well as copies of the applicable pages from each technical reference cited in 

the prosecution history. Appx. C1 and C2.10 

2. Nontechnical description of the ’240 patent 

44. The ’240 patent is generally directed to technological improvements to video-on-

demand (VOD) and electronic program guide (EPG) technologies in which users may access 

EPGs from different client devices, such as a primary digital set-top box as well as Internet-

connected digital devices (e.g., smartphones, tablets, multi-room client STB). The ’240 patent 

provides methods by which a digital television service provider system interacts with different 

client devices to personalize each EPG on each device to account for user requests, such as 

requests to access VOD content. 

 
9 A certified version of Exhibit 13, the assignment records for the ’240 patent, has been ordered 
by BBiTV but has not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii), BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include the certified version of Exhibits 13, the assignment records 
for the ’240 patent, once it is received. 
10 A certified version of the prosecution history of U.S. Patent No. 9,936,240 has been ordered by 
BBiTV but has not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(c)(i), BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include the certified copy once it is received. 
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3. Foreign counterparts of the ’240 patent 

45. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 5 is a list of each foreign 

patent, each foreign patent application (not already issued as a patent) and each foreign patent 

application that has been denied, abandoned, or withdrawn corresponding to the ’240 patent, 

with an indication of the prosecution status of each such patent application. 

 U.S. Patent No. 11,277,669 

1. Identification of the ’669 patent and ownership by BBiTV 

46. The ’669 patent, titled “Dynamic Adjustment of Electronic Program Guide Displays 

Based on Viewer Preferences for Minimizing Navigation in VOD Program Selection,” issued 

March 15, 2022, naming Milton Diaz Perez as the inventor. Ex. 4. The ’669 patent issued from 

application No. 16/785,224, which is a continuation application that claims the benefit of 

application No. 16/199,894, filed on Nov. 26, 2018, now Pat. No. 10,567,846, which is a 

continuation of application No. 15/894,262, filed on Feb. 12, 2018, now Pat. No. 10,149,015, 

which is a continuation of application No. 15/589,225, filed on May 8, 2017, now Pat. No. 

9,894,419, which is a continuation of application No. 15/002,040, filed on Jan. 20, 2016, now 

Pat. No. 9,648,390, which is a continuation of application No. 13/831,042, filed on Mar. 14, 

2013, now Pat. No. 9,247,308, which is a continuation of application No. 12/869,534, filed on 

Aug. 26, 2010, now Pat. No. 9,344,765, which is a division of application No. 11/768,895, filed 

on Jun. 26, 2007, now Pat. No. 9,584,868. The ’669 patent expires on June 26, 2027. 

47. BBiTV owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the ’669 patent. A 

certified copy of the ’669 patent is attached as Exhibit 4. A copy of the assignment records for 
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the ’669 patent is attached as Exhibit 15.11 Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c), BBiTV 

submits a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’669 patent, as well as copies of the 

applicable pages from each technical reference cited in the prosecution history. Appx. D1 and 

D2. 

2. Nontechnical description of the ’669 patent 

48. The ’669 patent is generally directed to technological improvements to video-on-

demand (VOD) and electronic program guide (EPG) technologies in which users may access 

EPGs from different client devices, such as a primary digital set-top box as well as Internet-

connected digital devices (e.g., smartphones, tablets, multi-room client STB). The ’669 patent 

provides methods by which a digital television service provider system interacts with different 

client devices in order to personalize each EPG on each device to account for user requests, such 

as requests to access VOD content. 

3. Foreign counterparts of the ’669 patent 

49. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 5 is a list of each foreign 

patent, each foreign patent application (not already issued as a patent) and each foreign patent 

application that has been denied, abandoned, or withdrawn corresponding to the ’669 patent, 

with an indication of the prosecution status of each such patent application. 

VI. LICENSEES TO THE ASSERTED PATENTS 

50. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.12(a)(9)(iii), Exhibit 6C identifies each licensee for 

each Asserted Patent. 

 
11 A certified version of Exhibit 15, the assignment records for the ’669 patent, has been ordered 
by BBiTV but has not yet been received. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(ii), BBiTV will 
supplement its Complaint to include the certified version of Exhibits 15, the assignment records 
for the ’669 patent, once it is received. 
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VII. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF IMPORTATION AND SALE 

51. On information and belief, Respondents are importing and will continue to import, 

sell for importation, and/or sell within the United States after importation Accused Products that 

infringe one or more claims of the Asserted Patents. 

52. Specific instances of importation, sale for importation into the United States, and/or 

sale within the United States after importation of Accused Products by each of the proposed 

Respondents are set forth below. These instances are exemplary in nature and not intended to 

restrict the scope of any exclusion order or other remedy the Commission may order. 

 Comcast’s Importation 

53. On information and belief, the Comcast Accused Products are manufactured 

abroad, imported into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by 

Comcast and/or on Comcast’s behalf. Comcast exercises direction and control over original 

equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and service providers with respect to the manufacture, 

importation, sale for importation, and/or sale after importation of the Comcast Accused Products 

by instructing OEMs and service providers to make, repair, and/or import the Comcast Accused 

Products according to Comcast’s specifications. Subsequently, Comcast bundles sales of X1, 

Flex, and/or internet service with the provision of Comcast Accused Products to subscribers in 

the United States. At least because of the foregoing, and on information and belief, Comcast 

imports its Accused Products into the United States and/or sells them in the United States after 

importation. 

54. Comcast’s Accused Products include certain set-top boxes that are sold, rented, or 

leased by Comcast in the United States. Those set-top boxes were and are manufactured and 

assembled abroad, and subsequently imported, by or on behalf of Comcast and are thus imported 
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into the United States by Comcast. 

55. Comcast charges subscribers for lost, damaged, and/or unreturned set-top boxes, 

including Comcast’s Accused Products. Such charges constitute sales within the United States 

after importation of Comcast’s Accused Products. See Certain Digital Video Receivers and 

Related Hardware and Software Components, Inv. No. 337-TA-1103, Order No. 47 at 15–36 

(June 3, 2019). 

56. Comcast’s television subscribers take possession of Comcast’s Accused Products 

when Comcast leases or rents its Accused Products to its subscribers, separately or when bundled 

with other services. Such leases or rentals constitute sales of Comcast’s Accused Products in the 

United States. 

57. Further, Comcast’s sales of television services, including video-on-demand (VOD) 

services, that utilize Comcast’s Accused Products constitute sales of Comcast’s Accused 

Products in the United States. For example, Comcast sells and provides its subscription Xfinity 

television service in the United States. Comcast’s X1 Getting Started Kit includes an Xfinity TV 

Box that Comcast provides to X1 subscribers. Ex. 19, What’s Included in an X1 Getting Started 

Kit - Xfinity Support, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/what-is-included-in-an-x1-self-

install-kit (printed 2/28/2022). 

58. Exhibit 20 is a list of Comcast’s set-top boxes currently available to its customers. 

Ex. 20, Energy Usage of Your Comcast TV Box - Xfinity Support, 

https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/set-top-box-energy-usage (printed 2/28/2022). Its set-

top boxes include the MX011ANM, AX014ANM, and PXD01ANI models. Id. 

59. Comcast’s Xfinity XG1 TV Box is an example of a Comcast Accused Product. 

Exhibit 21 is an image of the label on a Comcast Xfinity XG1, model MX011ANM, which 
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indicates that the MX011ANM was “Made in Taiwan.” Ex. 21. Comcast provided that 

MX011ANM set-top box to a subscriber in the United States in conjunction with Comcast’s sale 

of television service to the subscriber.  

60. As an additional example of Comcast’s importation, Exhibit 22 is an image of the 

label on a Comcast Xfinity XG1v4, model AX014ANM, which indicates that the AX014ANM 

was “Designed with [love] in Philadelphia Assembled in China.” Ex. 22. Comcast provided that 

AX014ANM set-top box to a subscriber in the United States in conjunction with Comcast’s sale 

of television service to the subscriber. 

61. As an additional example of Comcast’s importation, Exhibit 23 is an image of a 

label on the bottom of a Comcast Xfinity XiD streaming TV box, model PXD01ANI, which 

indicates that the PXD01ANI was “Designed with [love] in Philadelphia Made in China.” Ex.23. 

Comcast provided that PXD01ANI set-top box to a subscriber in the United States in conjunction 

with Comcast’s sale of television service to the subscriber. 

 Charter’s Importation 

62. On information and belief, the Charter Accused Products are manufactured abroad, 

imported into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by Charter 

and/or on Charter’s behalf. Charter exercises direction and control over original equipment 

manufacturers (OEMs) and service providers with respect to the manufacture, importation, 

and/or sale after importation of the Charter Accused Products by instructing OEMs and service 

providers to make, repair, and/or import the Charter Accused Products according to Charter’s 

specifications. Subsequently, Charter bundles sales of its Spectrum service with the provision of 

Charter Accused Products to subscribers in the United States. At least because of the foregoing, 

and on information and belief, Charter imports its Accused Products into the United States 
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and/or sells them in the United States after importation. 

63. Charter’s Accused Products include certain set-top boxes that are sold, rented, or 

leased by Charter in the United States. Those set-top boxes were and are manufactured and 

assembled by or on behalf of Charter in foreign facilities and are thus imported into the United 

States by Charter. 

64. Charter charges subscribers for lost, damaged, and/or unreturned set-top boxes, 

including Charter’s Accused Products. Such charges constitute sales within the United States 

after importation of Charter’s Accused Products. See Ex. 24, How to Return Your Spectrum 

Equipment _ Spectrum Support, https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/returning-your-spectrum-

equipment/ (printed 3/1/2022); Certain Digital Video Receivers and Related Hardware and 

Software Components, Inv. No. 337-TA-1103, Order No. 47 at 15–36 (June 3, 2019). 

65. Charter’s television subscribers take possession of Charter’s Accused Products 

when Charter leases or rents its Accused Products to its subscribers, separately or when bundled 

with other services. Such leases or rentals constitute sales of Charter’s Accused Products in the 

United States. 

66. Further, Charter’s sales of television services, including video-on-demand (VOD) 

services, that utilize Charter’s Accused Products constitute sales of Charter’s Accused Products 

in the United States. For example, Charter sells and provides its subscription Spectrum television 

service in the United States. In conjunction with selling Spectrum service, Charter provides 

subscribers with set-top boxes. Ex. 25, Spectrum Receiver Self-Installation - Spectrum Support, 

https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/digital-receiver-self-install (printed 3/1/2022). 

67. Exhibit 17 is a list of Charter’s Spectrum equipment. Ex. 17, CableLabs Energy 

Reporting _ Spectrum (Charter) STB - CableLabs Energy Reporting, 
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https://energy.cablelabs.com/charter/ (printed 3/31/2022). Its set-top boxes include the 101T 

model. Id. 

68. Charter’s Spectrum 101T set-top box is an example of a Charter Accused Product. 

Exhibit 26 is an image of the label on a Charter Spectrum set-top box, model Spectrum 101T, 

which indicates that the 101T was “Made in China.” Ex. 26. Charter provided that 101T set-top 

box to a subscriber in the United States in conjunction with Charter’s sale of television service to 

the subscriber. 

 Altice’s Importation 

69. On information and belief, the Altice Accused Products are manufactured abroad, 

imported into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by Altice 

and/or on Altice’s behalf. Altice exercises direction and control over original equipment 

manufacturers (OEMs) and service providers with respect to the manufacture, importation, sale 

for importation, and/or sale after importation of the Altice Accused Products by instructing 

OEMs and service providers to make, repair, and/or import the Altice Accused Products 

according to Altice’s specifications. Subsequently, Altice bundles sales of its television service 

with the provision of Altice Accused Products to subscribers in the United States. At least 

because of the foregoing, and on information and belief, Altice imports its Accused Products into 

the United States and/or sells them in the United States after importation. 

70. Altice’s Accused Products include certain set-top boxes (e.g., the Altice Mini) that 

are sold, rented, or leased by Altice in the United States. Those set-top boxes were and are 

manufactured and assembled by or on behalf of Altice in foreign facilities and are thus imported 

into the United States by Altice. 

71. Altice charges subscribers for lost, damaged, and/or unreturned set-top boxes, 
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including Altice’s Accused Products. Such charges constitute sales within the United States after 

importation of Altice’s Accused Products. See Ex. 27, Unreturned-Equipment, 

https://www.optimum.net/cdn/static.tvlistings.optimum.net/ool/static/prod/documents/Unreturne

d-Equipment.pdf?_ga=2.13073783.1137194283.1646231301-1279494665.1646231301 (printed 

3/2/2022); Ex. 28, General Terms and Conditions of Service (Residential) _ Optimum, 

https://www.optimum.com/terms-of-

service/residential?_ga=2.44758564.1019554620.1646231554-715615936.1646231554 (printed 

3/2/2022); Certain Digital Video Receivers and Related Hardware and Software Components, 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1103, Order No. 47 at 15–36 (June 3, 2019). 

72. Altice’s television subscribers take possession of Altice’s Accused Products when 

Altice leases or rents its Accused Products to its subscribers, separately or bundled with other 

services. Such leases or rentals constitute sales of Altice’s Accused Products in the United States. 

73. Further, Altice’s sales of television services, including video-on-demand (VOD) 

services, that utilize Altice’s Accused Products constitute sales of Altice’s Accused Products. For 

example, Altice sells and provides its subscription Optimum and Suddenlink television services 

in the United States. In conjunction with selling those services, Altice provides subscribers with 

set-top boxes. Ex. 29, Optimum _ Altice One Picker, 

https://www.optimum.net/support/alticeone-picker (printed 3/2/2022). 

74. Altice’s set-top boxes include the Altice One Mini. Ex. 18, CableLabs Energy 

Reporting _ Altice USA STB - CableLabs Energy Reporting, 

https://energy.cablelabs.com/alticeusa/ (printed 3/1/2022). 

75. The Altice One Mini set-top box is an example of an Altice Accused Product that 

Altice provides to subscribers in the United States after importation. By way of example, the 
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photographs of the Altice One Mini shown in Exhibit 47.1 was provided by Altice to a 

subscriber in the United States in conjunction with Altice’s sale of television service to the 

subscriber. The label on the bottom of the Altice One Mini fails to indicate a country of origin 

but indicates that it was made by Sagemcom. Ex. 47.1, p. 2. On information and belief, the Altice 

One Mini is manufactured by third-party Sagemcom outside the United States, imported into the 

United States by various Sagemcom entities on behalf of Altice, and sold by Altice after 

importation in the United States. Exhibit 30 is a printout of importation records for set-top boxes 

imported into the United States by various Sagemcom entities, including Sagemcom USA LLC, 

between March 28, 2021, and March 28, 2022. During that period, Sagemcom entities imported 

93 separate shipments of set-top boxes into the United States. 

VIII. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS OF THE PROPOSED RESPONDENTS 

76. BBiTV asserts that the proposed respondents infringe, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents, at least the following claims of the Asserted Patents, in violation of 35 

U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and (c).  

Respondent Group ’909 patent ’014 patent ’240 patent ’669 patent 

Comcast 1–4, 10–16 
1, 3–5, 7, 9, 10, 

12 
1–9, 12–15 1–3, 5–16 

Charter 1–4, 10–16 
1, 3–5, 7, 9, 10, 

12 
1–7, 9, 14, 15 1–3, 5–16 

Altice 1–4, 10–16 
1, 3–5, 7, 9, 10, 

12 
1–7, 9, 14, 15 1–3, 5–16 

 
77. The proposed respondents sell cable TV services that include provision of a set-top 

box, but subscribers generally cannot select a specific set-top-box model from among all the set-

top boxes that are currently deployed. This has limited BBiTV’s ability to obtain or identify 

every one of the proposed respondents’ products imported into the United States in violation of 

Section 337. Thus, without discovery, BBiTV cannot exhaustively identify all devices sold for 



23 
 

importation into the United States, imported into the United States, and/or sold within the United 

States after importation that infringe the Asserted Patents. BBiTV reserves its right to 

supplement its allegations, to further amend this Complaint, and to add respondents and accused 

products in the future, if necessary, based on discovery received during the Investigation. 

 Comcast’s Patent Infringement 

78. Comcast, directly and/or indirectly, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, infringes one or more of the Asserted Patents with certain of the Comcast Accused 

Products that, by or on behalf of Comcast, are manufactured and/or assembled outside the United 

States, imported into the United States, and/or sold after importation.  

1. Comcast’s Infringement of the ’909 patent 

79. On information and belief, Comcast imports and/or sells within the United States 

after importation the Comcast Accused Products, which directly infringe, literally and/or under 

the doctrine of the equivalents, at least claims 1–3, 12, 14, and 16 of the ’909 patent in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).  

80. Comcast’s Accused Products infringe the ’909 patent at the time of importation into 

the United States or after importation when Comcast loads software onto its Accused Products or 

otherwise configures them so that Comcast can use its Accused Products to provide television 

service to its subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The 

Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) 

cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). For example, Comcast offers “Most free shows & movies On 

Demand” and advertises “Customize your plan, your way. With premium channels, sports 

packages, ad-free subscription On Demand, and international programming.” Ex. 32, Xfinity X1_ 

Our Best Live TV & More, https://www.xfinity.com/learn/digital-cable-
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tv/x1?INTCMP=TVStreamingLearn_X1_Entertainment_LearnDCT (printed 2/24/2022). As 

another example, Comcast advertises that its Peacock app allows X1 customers to “stream new 

episodes of your favorite NBC shows on Peacock the day after they premiere.” Id. Similarly, 

Comcast’s Flex customers can enjoy “tons of great content at no extra cost on Peacock Premium 

and Xumo.” Ex. 33, Xfinity TV and Streaming - Choose Your Way to Watch Your Favorites, 

https://www.xfinity.com/learn/digital-cable-tv#flexstreaming (printed 2/27/2022) p. 9. 

81. Comcast also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of 

the ’909 patent by others, including Comcast’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Comcast has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and 

its infringing acts so that continuing acts by Comcast demonstrate intent to induce others to 

infringe the Asserted Patents. For example, Comcast was aware of, and has had knowledge of, 

the ’909, ’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to 

Comcast notifying it of Comcast’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 31.1, Letter of 12/10/21 

from BBiTV to Comcast. Comcast was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents 

by an April 8, 2022 letter from BBiTV to Comcast. Ex. 31.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to 

Comcast. 

b. Upon information and belief, Comcast aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Comcast 

actively encourages and instructs its customers to operate the Accused Products in an infringing 

manner and/or cause its Accused Products to load software and/or update in ways that configure 

the Comcast Accused Products to directly infringe the ’909 patent, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects a Comcast 

Accused Product to the Internet or to Comcast’s cable-television system, the Comcast Accused 
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Product will download or activate software that configures the Comcast Accused Product to 

infringe. The customers’ use of the Comcast Accused Products constitutes direct infringement 

because the Comcast Accused Products directly infringe. 

82. Exhibit 38.1 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the Comcast 

Accused Products infringe claim 1 of the ’909 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more 

Accused Products and services provided and sold by Comcast in the United States. 

2. Comcast’s Infringement of the ’014 patent 

83. On information and belief, Comcast imports, sells for importation, and/or sells 

within the United States after importation certain Comcast Accused Products, including its 

Comcast X1 TV boxes with tuners, which directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

the equivalents, at least claims 1, 3, 7, 10, and 12 of the ’014 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 

271(a). On information and belief, Comcast’s X1 TV boxes with tuners include at least the XG1, 

XG1v1, XG1v3, XG1v4, XG2, XiD X1, RNG150N P2, RNG150N, PX022ANC, PX022ANM, 

AX014ANC, and AX014ANM. Ex. 16. 

84. Comcast’s X1 TV Boxes with tuners infringe the ’014 patent at the time of 

importation into the United States, or after importation when Comcast loads software onto its X1 

TV Boxes or otherwise configures them so that Comcast can use its X1 TV Boxes with tuners to 

provide television service to its subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 

(Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that 

infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). For example, Comcast offers 

“Most free shows & movies On Demand” and advertises “Customize your plan, your way. With 

premium channels, sports packages, ad-free subscription On Demand, and international 

programming.” Ex. 32. As another example, Comcast advertises that its Peacock app allows X1 

customers to “stream new episodes of your favorite NBC shows on Peacock the day after they 
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premiere.” Id. 

85. Comcast also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of 

the ’014 patent by others, including Comcast’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Comcast has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and 

its infringing acts so that continuing acts by Comcast demonstrate intent to induce others to 

infringe the Asserted Patents. For example, Comcast was aware of, and has had knowledge of, 

the ’909, ’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to 

Comcast notifying it of Comcast’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 31.1, Letter of 12/10/21 

from BBiTV to Comcast. Comcast was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents 

by an April 8, 2022 letter from BBiTV to Comcast. Ex. 31.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to 

Comcast. 

b. Upon information and belief, Comcast aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Comcast 

actively encourages and instructs its customers to operate the Accused Products in an infringing 

manner and/or cause its Accused Products to load software and/or update in ways that configure 

the Comcast Accused Products to directly infringe the ’014 patent, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects a Comcast 

Accused Product to the Internet or to Comcast’s cable-television system, the Comcast Accused 

Product will download or activate software that configures the Comcast Accused Product to 

infringe. The customers’ use of the Comcast Accused Products constitutes direct infringement 

because the Comcast Accused Products directly infringe. 

86. Exhibit 38.2 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the Comcast X1 TV 

boxes with tuners infringe claim 1 of the ’014 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more 
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Accused Products and services provided and sold by Comcast in the United States. 

3. Comcast’s Infringement of the ’240 patent 

87. On information and belief, Comcast imports and/or sells within the United States 

after importation the Comcast Accused Products, which Comcast incorporates into its television-

service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the equivalents, at least 

claims 1–9 and 12 of the ’240 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

88. Comcast infringes the ’240 patent when Comcast incorporates its Accused Products 

into its television-service platform and provides VOD services to its subscribers via its Accused 

Products or via its Accused Products and an electronic device loaded with Comcast’s streaming 

software, for example, the Xfinity Stream app or the Peacock app. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 

951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies 

to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). 

89. For example, the software installed on the Comcast Accused Products provide 

access to VOD content: “From X1 for an ‘all in’ entertainment experience to Flex for those who 

prefer streaming and On Demand content, we have a range of options that make it easy for you 

to access the content you want, when you want it.” Ex. 34, Learn More About Our Free Xfinity 

X1 and Flex Apps - Xfinity Support, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/tv-movies-apps 

(printed 3/8/2022). Comcast advertises that its Peacock app allows X1 customers to “stream new 

episodes of your favorite NBC shows on Peacock the day after they premiere.” Id. Similarly, 

Comcast’s Flex customers can enjoy “tons of great content at no extra cost on Peacock Premium 

and Xumo.” Ex. 33, p. 9; see also Ex. 35, NBC Peacock now included with Xfinity Internet, 

https://www.xfinity.com/hub/tv-video/peacock-on-xfinity (printed 3/8/2022). 

90. Examples of Comcast’s streaming software include the Xfinity Stream app and the 

Peacock app, through which Comcast provides VOD services. Ex. 36, Watch TV Live and On 
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Demand with Xfinity Stream - Xfinity Support, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/live-tv-

streaming (printed 3/8/2022); Ex. 37, What devices and platforms are supported by Peacock, 

https://www.peacocktv.com/help/article/what-devices-and-platforms-are-supported-by-peacock 

(printed 3/8/2022). 

91. Exhibit 38.3 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Comcast infringes 

claim 1 of the ’240 patent with its television-service platform incorporating its Accused Products 

in conjunction with its Xfinity Stream or Peacock app, and depicting the operation of one or 

more Accused Products and services provided and sold by Comcast in the United States. 

4. Comcast’s Infringement of the ’669 patent 

92. On information and belief, Comcast imports and/or sells within the United States 

after importation the Comcast Accused Products, which Comcast incorporates into its television-

service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the equivalents, at least 

claims 1 and 5–16 of the ’669 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

93. Comcast infringes the ’669 patent when Comcast incorporates the Accused 

Products into its television-service platform and provides VOD services to its subscribers via its 

Accused Products or via its Accused Products and an electronic device loaded with Comcast’s 

streaming software, for example, the Xfinity Stream app or the Peacock app. See Comcast Corp. 

v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 

applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). 

94. For example, the software installed on the Comcast Accused Products provide 

access to VOD content: “From X1 for an ‘all in’ entertainment experience to Flex for those who 

prefer streaming and On Demand content, we have a range of options that make it easy for you 

to access the content you want, when you want it.” Ex. 34, Learn More About Our Free Xfinity 

X1 and Flex Apps - Xfinity Support, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/tv-movies-apps 
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(printed 3/8/2022). Comcast advertises that its Peacock app allows X1 customers to “stream new 

episodes of your favorite NBC shows on Peacock the day after they premiere.” Id. Similarly, 

Comcast’s Flex customers can enjoy “tons of great content at no extra cost on Peacock Premium 

and Xumo.” Ex. 33, p. 9; see also Ex. 35, NBC Peacock now included with Xfinity Internet, 

https://www.xfinity.com/hub/tv-video/peacock-on-xfinity (printed 3/8/2022). 

95. Examples of Comcast’s streaming software include the Xfinity Stream app and the 

Peacock app, through which Comcast provides VOD services. Ex. 36, Watch TV Live and On 

Demand with Xfinity Stream - Xfinity Support, https://www.xfinity.com/support/articles/live-tv-

streaming (printed 3/8/2022); Ex. 37, What devices and platforms are supported by Peacock, 

https://www.peacocktv.com/help/article/what-devices-and-platforms-are-supported-by-peacock 

(printed 3/8/2022). 

96. Exhibit 38.4 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Comcast infringes 

claim 1 of the ’669 patent with its television-service platform incorporating its Accused Products 

in conjunction with its Xfinity Stream or Peacock app, and depicting the operation of one or 

more Accused Products and services provided and sold by Comcast in the United States. 

 Charter’s Patent Infringement 

97. Charter, directly and/or indirectly, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

infringes one or more of the Asserted Patents with certain of the Charter Accused Products that, 

by or on behalf of Charter, are manufactured and/or assembled outside the United States, 

imported into the United States, and/or sold after importation. 

1. Charter’s Infringement of the ’909 patent 

98. On information and belief, Charter imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Charter Accused Products, which directly infringe, 
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literally and/or under the doctrine of the equivalents, at least claims 1–3, 12, 14, and 16 of the 

’909 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

99. Charter’s Accused Products infringe the ’909 patent at the time of importation into 

the United States or after importation when Charter loads software (e.g., Spectrum On Demand 

software or other interactive VOD applications) onto its Accused Products or otherwise 

configures them so that Charter can use its Accused Products to provide television service to its 

subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission 

correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 

141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). Charter instructs customers how to access VOD service via the Charter 

Accused Products: “Tune your receiver to Channel 1 using your Spectrum remote (or hit the On 

Demand button). You'll be redirected to your On Demand menu to browse Movies, Primetime, 

Premiums and more. On Demand programming is accessible on all of your TVs connected to 

Spectrum TV service with Spectrum-issued digital equipment.” Ex. 40, Spectrum On Demand_ 

General Information _ Spectrum Support, https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/spectrum-

demand-general-information (printed 2/24/22). Charter’s Spectrum On Demand service “lets 

Spectrum TV subscribers watch popular shows and movies at any time.” Ex. 41, Video On 

Demand FAQ _ Spectrum Support, https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/spectrum-demand 

(printed 2/24/22). 

100. Charter also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of 

the ’909 patent by others, including Charter’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Charter has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and its 

infringing acts so that continuing acts by Charter demonstrate intent to induce others to infringe 

the Asserted Patents. For example, Charter was aware of, and has had knowledge of, the ’909, 
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’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to Charter 

notifying it of Charter’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 39.1, Letter of 12/10/21 from BBiTV 

to Charter. Charter was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents by an April 8, 

2022 letter from BBiTV to Charter. Ex. 39.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to Charter. 

b. Upon information and belief, Charter aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Charter 

actively encourages and instructs its customers to operate the Accused Products in an infringing 

manner and/or cause its Accused Products to load software and/or update in ways that configure 

the Charter Accused Products to directly infringe the ’909 patent, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects a Charter Accused 

Product to the Internet or to Charter’s cable-television system, the Charter Accused Product will 

download or activate software that configures the Charter Accused Product to infringe. The 

customers’ use of the Charter Accused Products constitutes direct infringement because the 

Charter Accused Products directly infringe. 

101. Exhibit 43.1 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Charter’s Accused 

Products infringe claim 1 of the ’909 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Charter in the United States.  

2. Charter’s Infringement of the ’014 patent 

102. On information and belief, Charter imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Charter Accused Products, which directly infringe, 

literally and/or under the doctrine of the equivalents, at least claims 1, 3, 7, 10, and 12 of the 

’014 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

103. Charter’s Accused Products infringe the ’014 patent at the time of importation into 

the United States or after importation when Charter loads software (e.g., Spectrum On Demand 
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software or other interactive VOD applications) onto its Accused Products or otherwise 

configures them so that Charter can use its Accused Products to provide television service to its 

subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission 

correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 

141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). Charter instructs customers how to access VOD service via the Charter 

Accused Products: “Tune your receiver to Channel 1 using your Spectrum remote (or hit the On 

Demand button). You'll be redirected to your On Demand menu to browse Movies, Primetime, 

Premiums and more. On Demand programming is accessible on all of your TVs connected to 

Spectrum TV service with Spectrum-issued digital equipment.” Ex. 40. Charter’s Spectrum On 

Demand service “lets Spectrum TV subscribers watch popular shows and movies at any time.” 

Ex. 41. 

104. Charter also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of 

the ’014 patent by others, including Charter’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Charter has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and its 

infringing acts so that continuing acts by Charter demonstrate intent to induce others to infringe 

the Asserted Patents. For example, Charter was aware of, and has had knowledge of, the ’909, 

’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to Charter 

notifying it of Charter’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 39.1, Letter of 12/10/21 from BBiTV 

to Charter. Charter was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents by an April 8, 

2022 letter from BBiTV to Charter. Ex. 39.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to Charter. 

b. Upon information and belief, Charter aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Charter 

actively encourages and instructs its customers to cause its Accused Products to operate the 
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Accused Products in an infringing manner and/or to load software and/or update in ways that 

configure the Charter Accused Products to directly infringe the ’014 patent, literally and/or under 

the doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects a Charter 

Accused Product to the Internet or to Charter’s cable-television system, the Charter Accused 

Product will download or activate software that configures the Charter Accused Product to 

infringe. The customers’ use of the Charter Accused Products constitutes direct infringement 

because the Charter Accused Products directly infringe. 

105. Exhibit 43.2 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Charter’s Accused 

Products infringe claim 1 of the ’014 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Charter in the United States. 

3. Charter’s Infringement of the ’240 patent 

106. On information and belief, Charter imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Charter Accused Products, which Charter incorporates 

into its television-service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the 

equivalents, at least claims 1–7 and 9 of the ’240 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

107. Charter provides subscribers with its Accused Products and its Spectrum TV app. 

Charter advertises: “The Spectrum TV app gives you more choices for watching your favorite 

programming at no extra charge. Watch live TV and On Demand programming, browse 14 days 

of guide listings, schedule recordings, get programming recommendations and more.” See Ex. 

42, TV Channel Apps_Spectrum Support, https://www.spectrum.net/support/tv/tv-channel-apps 

(printed 2/24/22). 

108. Charter infringes the ’240 patent when Charter incorporates its Accused Products 

into its television-service platform and provides VOD services to its subscribers via the Accused 

Products and an electronic device loaded with the Charter’s streaming software, for example, the 
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Spectrum TV app. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The 

Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) 

cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). 

109. Exhibit 43.3 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Charter infringes 

claim 1 of the ’240 patent with its television-service platform incorporating its Accused Products 

in conjunction with its Spectrum TV app, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Charter in the United States. 

4. Charter’s Infringement of the ’669 patent 

110. On information and belief, Charter imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Charter Accused Products, which Charter incorporates 

into its television-service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the 

equivalents, at least claims 1 and 5–16 of the ’669 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

111. Charter provides subscribers with its Accused Products and its Spectrum TV app. 

Charter advertises: “The Spectrum TV app gives you more choices for watching your favorite 

programming at no extra charge. Watch live TV and On Demand programming, browse 14 days 

of guide listings, schedule recordings, get programming recommendations and more.” See Ex. 

42. 

112. Charter infringes the ’669 patent when Charter incorporates those products into its 

television-service platform and provides VOD services to its subscribers via the Accused 

Products and an electronic device loaded with the Charter’s streaming software, for example, the 

Spectrum TV app. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The 

Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) 

cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020).  

113. Exhibit 43.4 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Charter infringes 
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claim 1 of the ’669 patent with its television-service platform incorporating its Accused Products 

in conjunction with its Spectrum TV app, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Charter in the United States. 

 Altice’s Patent Infringement 

114. Altice, directly and/or indirectly, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

infringes one or more of the Asserted Patents with certain of the Accused Products that, by or on 

behalf of Altice, are manufactured and/or assembled outside the United States, imported into the 

United States, and/or sold after importation. 

1. Altice’s Infringement of the ’909 patent 

115. On information and belief, Altice imports and/or sells within the United States after 

importation the Altice Accused Products, which directly infringe, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of the equivalents, at least claims 1–3, 12, 14, and 16 of the ’909 patent in violation of 

35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

116. Altice’s Accused Products infringe the ’909 patent at the time of importation into 

the United States, or after importation when Altice loads software onto its Accused Products or 

otherwise imparts VOD functionality to its Accused Products so that Charter can use its Accused 

Products to provide television service to its subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 F.3d 

1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to articles 

that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). For example, the Altice 

Accused Products provide VOD service through Altice’s On Demand menu: “The On Demand 

menu with Altice One provides the opportunity to watch prime time shows, music videos, 

premium TV series and rent movies.” Ex. 45, Optimum _ FAQ, 

https://www.optimum.net/FAQ/#/answers/a_id/3986 (printed 2/24/22). 
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117. Altice also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of the 

’909 patent by others, including Altice’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Altice has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and its 

infringing acts so that continuing acts by Altice demonstrate intent to induce others to infringe 

the Asserted Patents. For example, Altice was aware of, and has had knowledge of, the ’909, 

’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to Altice 

notifying it of Altice’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 44.1, Letter of 12/10/21 from BBiTV to 

Altice. Altice was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents by an April 8, 2022 

letter from BBiTV to Altice. Ex. 44.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to Altice. 

b. Upon information and belief, Altice aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Altice 

actively encourages and instructs its customers to operate the Accused Products in an infringing 

manner and/or cause its Accused Products to load software and/or update in ways that configure 

the Altice Accused Products to directly infringe the ’909 patent, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects an Altice Accused 

Product to the Internet or to Altice’s cable-television system, the Altice Accused Product will 

download or activate software that configures the Altice Accused Product to infringe. The 

customers’ use of the Altice Accused Products constitutes direct infringement because the Altice 

Accused Products directly infringe. 

118. Exhibit 47.1 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the Altice Accused 

Products infringe claim 1 of the ’909 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Altice in the United States. 

2. Altice’s Infringement of the ’014 patent 

119. On information and belief, Altice imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 
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the United States after importation the Altice Accused Products, which directly infringe, literally 

and/or under the doctrine of the equivalents, at least claims 1, 3, 7, 10, and 12 of the ’014 patent 

in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

120. The Altice Accused Products infringe the ’014 patent at the time of importation into 

the United States, or after importation when Altice loads software onto its Accused Products or 

otherwise imparts VOD functionality to its Accused Products so that Comcast can use its 

Accused Products to provide television service to its subscribers. See Comcast Corp. v. ITC, 951 

F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 applies to 

articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020). For example, the 

Altice Accused Products provide VOD service through Altice’s On Demand menu: “The On 

Demand menu with Altice One provides the opportunity to watch prime time shows, music 

videos, premium TV series and rent movies.” Ex. 45. 

121. Altice also actively, knowingly, and intentionally induces direct infringement of the 

’014 patent by others, including Altice’s customers, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

a. Altice has knowledge of, or is willfully blind to, the Asserted Patents and its 

infringing acts so that continuing acts by Altice demonstrate intent to induce others to infringe 

the Asserted Patents. For example, Altice was aware of, and has had knowledge of, the ’909, 

’014, and ’240 patents at least by December 21, 2021, when BBiTV sent a letter to Altice 

notifying it of Altice’s infringement of those patents. Ex. 44.1, Letter of 12/10/21 from BBiTV to 

Altice. Altice was also made aware its infringement of the Asserted Patents by an April 8, 2022 

letter from BBiTV to Altice. Ex. 44.2, Letter of 04/08/22 from BBiTV to Altice. 

b. Upon information and belief, Altice aids, instructs, or otherwise acts with 

specific intent to cause acts by others that constitute direct infringement. For example, Altice 
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actively encourages and instructs its customers to cause its Accused Products to operate the 

Accused Products in an infringing manner and/or load software and/or update in ways that 

configure the Altice Accused Products to directly infringe the ’014 patent, literally and/or under 

the doctrine of equivalents. On information and belief, when a customer connects an Altice 

Accused Product to the Internet or to Altice’s cable-television system, the Altice Accused 

Product will download or activate software that configures the Altice Accused Product to 

infringe. The customers’ use of the Altice Accused Products constitutes direct infringement 

because the Altice Accused Products directly infringe. 

122. Exhibit 47.2 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the Altice Accused 

Products infringe claim 1 of the ’014 patent, and depicting the operation of one or more Accused 

Products and services provided and sold by Altice in the United States. 

3. Altice’s Infringement of the ’240 patent 

123. On information and belief, Altice imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Altice Accused Products, which Altice incorporates into 

its television-service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the 

equivalents, at least claims 1–7 and 9 of the ’240 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

124. Altice provides its Accused Products and its Altice One App to its subscribers. The 

Altice One App, when loaded on an electronic device such as a mobile phone, provides 

subscribers with an Altice set-top box access to Altice’s On Demand content: “On Demand 

streaming requires at least one (1) cable box on the account.” Ex. 46, Altice One App, 

https://www.optimum.net/pages/alticeone/app.html (printed 2/24/22). The Altice Accused 

Products provide VOD service through Altice’s On Demand menu: “The On Demand menu with 

Altice One provides the opportunity to watch prime time shows, music videos, premium TV 

series and rent movies.” Ex. 45. 
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125. Altice infringes the ’240 patent when Altice provides VOD services to its 

subscribers via the Accused Products or via the Accused Products and an electronic device 

loaded with Altice’s streaming software, for example, the Altice One App. See Comcast Corp. v. 

ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 

applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020).  

126. Exhibit 47.3 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Altice infringes 

claim 1 of the ’240 patent with its television-service platform incorporating the Altice Accused 

Products in conjunction with its Altice One App, and depicting the operation of one or more 

Accused Products and services provided and sold by Altice in the United States. 

4. Altice’s Infringement of the ’669 patent 

127. On information and belief, Altice imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within 

the United States after importation the Altice Accused Products, which Altice incorporates into 

its television-service platform to directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of the 

equivalents, at least claims 1 and 5–16 of the ’240 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

128. Altice provides its Accused Products and its Altice One App to its subscribers. The 

Altice One App, when loaded on an electronic device such as a mobile phone, provides 

subscribers with an Altice set-top box access to Altice’s On Demand content: “On Demand 

streaming requires at least one (1) cable box on the account.” Ex. 46. The Altice Accused 

Products provide VOD service through Altice’s On Demand menu: “The On Demand menu with 

Altice One provides the opportunity to watch prime time shows, music videos, premium TV 

series and rent movies.” Ex. 45. 

129. Altice infringes the ’240 patent when Altice provides VOD services to its 

subscribers via the Accused Products or via the Accused Products and an electronic device 

loaded with Altice’s streaming software, for example, the Altice One App. See Comcast Corp. v. 
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ITC, 951 F.3d 1301, 1308 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (“The Commission correctly held that Section 337 

applies to articles that infringe after importation.”) cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 133 (2020).  

130. Exhibit 47.4 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how Altice infringes 

claim 1 of the ’669 patent with its television-service platform incorporating the Altice Accused 

Products in conjunction with its Altice One App, and depicting the operation of one or more 

Accused Products and services provided and sold by Altice in the United States. 

IX. CLASSIFICATION UNDER THE HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE 

131. On information and belief, the Accused Products may be classified under at least 

item numbers 8517.18.50, 8525.10.30, 8525.10.10, 8528.59.05, and 8542.31.00 of the 

Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States. 

132. These classifications are intended for illustration only and are not intended to 

restrict the scope of any exclusion order or other remedy ordered by the Commission. 

X. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 

133. A domestic industry exists as defined under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2) and section 

337(a)(3)(A),(B), and (C), comprising significant investments in plant and equipment, significant 

employment of labor or capital, and substantial investments in exploitation of the Asserted 

Patents through engineering and R&D in the United States in connection with licensed products 

that practice and are protected by the Asserted Patents.  

 Technical Prong 

134. DISH makes significant and substantial investments with respect to the products 

and services that (i) practice one or more claims of the Asserted Patents or (ii) are incorporated 

into or supported by DISH’s television-service platforms for DISH TV or Sling TV to practice, 

or participate in the practice of, one or more claims of the Asserted Patents (“DISH’s Domestic 
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Industry Products” or “DISH’s DI Products”). 

135. DISH’s Domestic Industry Products include products that comprise part of the 

systems and services deployed as part of its DISH TV or Sling TV service, according to 

coverage of those services by the different Asserted Patents. For purposes of the economic prong 

of the domestic industry requirement, BBiTV is relying on DISH’s domestic investments related 

to the provision of DISH TV and Sling TV for the ’909 patent; BBiTV is relying on DISH’s 

domestic investments related to the provision of DISH TV for the ’014 patent; and BBiTV is 

relying on DISH’s domestic investments related to the provision of Sling TV for the ’669 patent 

and the ’240 patent. 

136. Collectively, DISH’s Domestic Industry Products include its (i) set-top boxes with 

tuners, such as the Hopper, Hopper 2, and Hopper 3, Hopper w/ Sling, Hopper Duo, Wally, 

Super Joey, Solo ViP 211z; (ii) set-top boxes without tuners such as the Joey, Wireless Joey, 4K 

Joey, Joey 3, and AirTV mini; and (iii) servers, infrastructure, satellites, ingestion tools, and 

other hardware and software (such as the DISH Anywhere app or Sling TV app) required to 

support and distribute video-on-demand and live content to DISH TV or Sling TV subscribers, as 

well as the metadata for such content. Certain of DISH’s Domestic Industry Products are 

provided with, or operate in conjunction with, either DISH TV or Sling TV. 

137. DISH incorporates its DI Products into its television-service platforms to provide 

subscribers with VOD and live television service via, among other things, DISH TV or Sling TV 

service. DISH’s DI products or its television-service platforms practice each of the Asserted 

Patents to provide VOD service to subscribers. 

138. Exhibit 48.1 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how DISH’s set-top 

boxes practice claim 1 of the ’909 patent. 
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139. Exhibit 48.2 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how DISH’s AirTV in 

conjunction with the Sling TV app practices claim 1 of the ’909 patent. 

140. Exhibit 48.3 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how DISH’s set-top 

boxes with tuners practice claim 1 of the ’014 patent. 

141. Exhibit 48.4 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the provision of 

DISH’s Sling TV service, supported by the AirTV mini and DISH servers, practices claim 1 of 

the ’240 patent. 

142. Exhibit 48.5 is an exemplary claim chart representative of how the provision of 

DISH’s Sling TV service, supported by the AirTV mini and DISH servers, practices claim 1 of 

the ’669 patent. 

143. The following table identifies the exemplary DISH Domestic Industry Product with 

the corresponding Asserted Patent and Exemplary Practiced Claim. 

Asserted Patent Exemplary Practiced Claims Exemplary DI Products 

9,866,909 1–3, 12, 14, 16 

Hopper Duo provided in conjunction 
with DISH TV service; or AirTV mini 
provided in conjunction with access to 
Sling TV 

10,555,014 1, 3, 7, 10, 12 
Hopper Duo provided in conjunction 
with DISH TV service 

9,936,240 1–7 and 9 
AirTV mini in combination with Sling 
TV app and DISH servers 

11,277,669 1, 5–11, and 13–16 
AirTV mini in combination with Sling 
TV app and DISH servers 

 

 Economic Prong 

144. Complainant BBiTV has a non-exclusive Cross-License patent agreement with 

DISH, covering the Asserted Patents. See Ex. 7C.  

145. DISH has recently availed itself of the protections of the International Trade 

Commission and asserted the existence of a domestic industry based on domestic activities and 
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investments in at least the research, development, installation, and support of a vast, nation-wide 

network of infrastructure to deliver streaming digital media content to its DISH TV and Sling TV 

subscribers through set-top-boxes and other streaming devices. See Certain Fitness Devices, 

Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1265, Complaint 

(Pub. Version) at 62-68, Public Exhibits 6 & 7 (Apr. 13, 2021) (“Dish Complaint”). 

146. Based at least on the activities and investments asserted in the Complaint in Certain 

Fitness Devices, Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems Containing Same, and as described 

in more detail in Confidential Exhibit 8C, a domestic industry exists under 19 U.S.C. § 

1337(a)(3)(A), (B), and/or (C) that relates to the Domestic Industry Products. 

1. Domestic Activities Conducted with Respect to the Domestic Industry Products and 
to Exploit the Asserted Patents 

147. DISH is a leading provider of satellite TV and Internet streaming services, and a 

leading investor and innovator in infrastructure and technologies that meet the personalized 

needs of its increasingly diverse pool of customers. See Dish Complaint ¶ 9.24. Since launching 

its first satellites in 1995, DISH has continued to invest millions of dollars in research and 

development and the acquisition of novel technologies that resolve long felt problems and needs 

across its industry. See Dish Complaint ¶ 9.23. For example, DISH launched the Sling TV brand 

subscription television service in the United States in 2015. See Dish Complaint ¶ 9.30. In 2017, 

DISH launched the AirTV Player streaming device, which integrates multiple streaming services 

into a single device, including Sling TV. See Dish Complaint ¶ 9.31. 

148. On information and belief, DISH conducts significant domestic activities related to 

at least the Domestic Industry Products through at least research, development, engineering, 

digital broadcast operations, data storage, product service and remanufacturing, IT and software 

development, customer service, warehousing, and distribution. On information and belief, these 
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activities, all of which are conducted in the United States, have allowed DISH to create and build 

a vast, nation-wide network of infrastructure to deliver digital media content to DISH TV and 

Sling TV subscribers through, inter alia, the DISH Domestic Industry Products. 

149. On information and belief, DISH conducts significant, critical research, 

development, and engineering in the United States related to the DISH Domestic Industry 

Products.  

150. DISH conducts significant ongoing research and development to continuously 

release new generations of the DISH Domestic Industry Products. Dish Complaint ¶¶ 9.32–9.33.  

151. With regard to set-top boxes in particular, DISH often upgrades or replaces 

customer equipment as its technology is improved and updated. Dish Complaint ¶ 9.33. 

152. When set-top boxes are returned when a DISH customer upgrades its equipment or 

cancels its subscription, DISH services and/or remanufactures the set-top boxes for redeployment 

if they are not obsolete by the time they are returned. Dish Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 ¶ 74; see 

also Ex. 49, 2019 DISH Network Corp. Annual Report, p. 79, 99. 

153. DISH conducts domestic technical customer support for at least the DISH Domestic 

Industry Products and the DISH TV and Sling TV services supported by those products. Dish 

Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 ¶ 77. 

154. DISH also conducts IT Development through development of software related to at 

least the DISH Domestic Industry Products. Dish Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 ¶ 81.  

155. Further details regarding DISH’s domestic activities and investments related to the 

DISH Domestic Industry Products are provided in Exhibit 8C.  

156. Additional details regarding DISH’s domestic activities are provided, and available 

to the Commission for purposes of institution, in Confidential Exhibits 6 and 7 to the Complaint 
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in Certain Fitness Devices, Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems Containing Same. Upon 

institution, BBiTV intends to seek prompt, targeted discovery from at least DISH to further 

support BBiTV’s domestic industry allegations. 

2. Domestic Investments Made with Respect to the Domestic Industry Products and to 
Exploit the Asserted Patents 

a. Significant Investments in Plant and Equipment 

157. There is a domestic industry as defined under Subsection (A) for each of the 

Asserted Patents at least because DISH has made, and continues to make, significant investments 

in plant and equipment in the United States with respect to the DISH Domestic Industry 

Products. 

158. DISH maintains at least four “Engineering, Research, and Development” facilities 

in the United States in which DISH conducts research, development, and engineering related to 

the DISH infrastructure utilized by the Domestic Industry Products to practice the Asserted 

Patents. See Dish Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 45-59. 

159. DISH maintains at least three “Digital Broadcast Operations Centers” in the United 

States that assist in the delivery of digital content through the Domestic Industry Products. See 

Dish Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 60-66. 

160. DISH maintains at least three “Data Centers and Service Farms” in the United 

States that host the digital content delivered through the Domestic Industry Products. See Dish 

Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 67-73. 

161. DISH maintains at least two “Service and Remanufacturing Centers” in the United 

States that services and/or remanufactures the Domestic Industry Products. See Dish Complaint, 

Public Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 74-80. 

162. DISH maintains an “IT Development Center” in the United States that develops 
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software for the Domestic Industry Products. See Dish Complaint at ¶¶ 81-83. 

163. DISH maintains at least ten “Customer Call Centers” in the United States that 

provide technical support for the Domestic Industry Products. See Dish Complaint, Public 

Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 84-88. 

164. DISH maintains at least two “Warehouses and Distribution Centers” in the United 

States that Domestic Industry Products are stored and/or distributed for use in the United States. 

See Dish Complaint, Public Exhibit 6 at ¶¶ 89-94. 

165. In 2020 alone, DISH and its affiliates owned over $301.0 million in buildings and 

improvements, nearly $13.2 million in land, and nearly $2.0 billion in furniture, fixtures and 

equipment in the United States. Dish Complaint ¶ 9.37; Ex. 50, 2020 DISH Network Corp. 

Annual Report, p. F-19. Moreover, during 2021, DISH purchased property and equipment in the 

amount of nearly $1.19 billion. See Ex. 51, DISH Annual Report, Year Ending December 31, 

2021, p. F-7. 

166. On information and belief, a significant portion of DISH’s investments in plant and 

equipment can be allocated to the DISH Domestic Industry Products. 

167. Further details, including BBiTV’s quantification of DISH’s plant and equipment 

investments with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents, are provided in 

Confidential Exhibit 8C.  

168. Additional details regarding DISH’s investments in plant and equipment are 

provided, and available to the Commission for purposes of institution, in Confidential Exhibits 6 

and 7 to the Complaint in Certain Fitness Devices, Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems 

Containing Same. Upon institution, BBiTV intends to seek prompt, targeted discovery from at 

least DISH to further support BBiTV’s domestic industry allegations. 



47 
 

b. Employment of Labor and Capital 

169. There is a domestic industry as defined under Subsection (B) for each of the 

Asserted Patents at least because DISH has made, and continues to make, significant investments 

in the employment of labor and capital in the United States with respect to the DISH Domestic 

Industry Products.  

170. DISH employs thousands of people in the United States that perform the activities 

discussed above at each of the respective facilities. Dish Complaint ¶ 9.39. As of December 31, 

2021, DISH had approximately 14,500 employees, most of whom were located in the United 

States. Ex. 51, DISH Annual Report, Year Ending December 31, 2021, p. 19. 

171. From 2011 through October 2020, DISH paid its employees that support, inter alia, 

the DISH Domestic Industry Products billions of dollars in salaries and benefits. Dish Complaint 

¶ 9.39. 

172. DISH also incurs significant on-going costs to obtain new subscribers, which 

includes at least costs to deploy the necessary technology and infrastructure for new customers to 

utilize the Domestic Industry Products to practice the Asserted Patents. Dish Complaint ¶ 9.40. 

For example, during 2021, DISH incurred capital expenditures of $104 million for new and 

existing set-top boxes for DISH TV customers, of which $72 million was for new subscribers 

and $32 million was for existing customers. Ex. 51, DISH Annual Report, Year Ending 

December 31, 2021, pp. 56, 66. 

173. On information and belief, a significant portion of DISH’s employment of labor and 

capital can be allocated to the DISH Domestic Industry Products. 

174. Further details, including BBiTV’s quantification of DISH’s employment of labor 

and capital with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents are provided in Confidential 

Exhibit 8C.  
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175. Additional details regarding DISH’s employment of labor are provided, and 

available to the Commission for purposes of institution, in Confidential Exhibits 6 and 7 to the 

Complaint in Certain Fitness Devices, Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems Containing 

Same. Upon institution, BBiTV intends to seek prompt, targeted discovery from at least DISH to 

further support BBiTV’s domestic industry allegations. 

3. Investments in Research, Development, and Engineering to Exploit the Asserted 
Patents 

176. A domestic industry as defined under Subsection (C) for each of the Asserted 

Patents exists at least because DISH has made, and continues to make, substantial United States 

investments in the exploitation of the Asserted Patents, including, by way of example, 

investments in engineering, research, and development.  

177. As discussed above, DISH conducts substantial domestic research, development, 

and engineering related to products that exploit the Asserted Patents. For example, during 2021, 

DISH’s research and development expenses totaled $29 million. Ex. 51, DISH Annual Report, 

Year Ending December 31, 2021, p. F-24.  

178. Further details, including BBiTV’s quantification of DISH’s substantial investments 

to exploit the Asserted Patents through domestic research, development, and engineering, are 

provided in Confidential Exhibit 8C.  

179. Additional details regarding DISH’s domestic research, development, and 

engineering activities and investments are provided, and available to the Commission for 

purposes of institution, in Confidential Exhibits 6 and 7 to the Complaint in Certain Fitness 

Devices, Streaming Components Thereof, & Systems Containing Same. Upon institution, BBiTV 

intends to seek prompt, targeted discovery from at least DISH to further support BBiTV’s 

domestic industry allegations. 
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XI. RELATED LITIGATION 

180. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(5), the alleged unfair methods of 

competition and unfair acts, or the subject matter thereof, are not, and have not been, the subject 

of any court or agency litigation. 

181. Other patents in the same family as one or more of the Asserted Patents have been 

the subject of court and agency litigation, as set forth below: 

a. Broadband iTV, Inc. v. Amazon.com Services LLC f/k/a Amazon.com 

Services, Inc., No. 6-20-cv-00921 (W.D. Tex.) is active, with a jury trial scheduled for 

September 2022. That case involves the assertion of U.S Patent No. 9,973,825, which share one 

or more common priority applications with the ’240 and ’669 patents; U.S. Patent Nos. 

9,648,388, 10,536,751, and 10,536,750, which share one or more common priority applications 

with the ’909 patent; and U.S. Patent Nos. 10,506,269 and 10,028,026, which share one or more 

common priority applications with the ’014 patent. 

b. Broadband iTV, Inc. v. Hawaiian Telcom, Inc., No. 16-1082 (CAFC); 

Broadband iTV, Inc. v. Hawaiian Telcom, Inc., No. 16-1083 (CAFC); Broadband iTV, Inc. v. 

Hawaiian Telcom, Inc., No. 14-cv-00169 (D. Haw.); and Broadband iTV, Inc. v. Time Warner 

Cable, Inc.; Oceanic Time Warner Cable, LLC, 1-15-cv-00131 (D. Haw.) involved the assertion 

of U.S. Patent No. 7,631,336, which issued from a continuation-in-part application to which the 

’909 patent claims priority and that is a child of an application to which the ’014 patent claims 

priority. A district court found the ’336 patent invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 101, and that decision 

was affirmed by the Federal Circuit in the consolidated appeals identified above. Time Warner 

Cable, Inc., a party to the litigations involving the ’336 patent, was acquired by Charter 

Communications, Inc., which is one of the proposed respondents in this Complaint.  

c. In Hawaiian Telcom, Inc. v. Broadband iTV, Inc., CBM2014-00189 (PTAB), 
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the Patent Trial & Appeal Board (PTAB) denied institution of covered business method review 

against the ’336 patent. 

d. In Unified Patents, Inc. v. Panitch Schwarze Belisario & Nadel LLP, 

IPR2014-01222 (PTAB), the PTAB denied institution of inter partes review against the ’336 

patent. 

e. Broadband iTV, Inc. v. OpenTV, Inc., No. 3-17-cv-06647 (N.D. Cal.) and No. 

CGC-17-561922 (Superior Ct. of Cal.) related to a breach-of-contract claim involving U.S. 

Patent No. 7,590,997, which issued from an application to which the ’909 patent claims priority 

and is the parent of a continuation-in-part application to which the ’014 patent claims priority.  

f. Broadband iTV, Inc. v. AT&T Services, Inc., No. 19-cv-00712 (W.D. Tex.); 

Broadband iTV, Inc. v. DirecTV, LLC f/k/a DirecTV, Inc., No. 19-cv-00714 (W.D. Tex.); 

Broadband iTV, Inc. v. DISH Network LLC, No. 19-cv-00716 (W.D. Tex.); Broadband iTV, 

Inc. v. AT&T Services, Inc., No. 20-cv-00717 (W.D. Tex.); and Broadband iTV, Inc. v. Dish 

Network, L.L.C., No. 21-cv-02867 (D. Col.) involved one or more of U.S. Patent Nos. 9,998,791 

and 9,648,388 which issued from applications in the same priority chain as the ’909 patent and 

that claim priority to the parent of a continuation-in-part application to which the ’014 patent 

claims priority; and U.S. Patent Nos. 10,349,101, 10,028,026, and 10,506,269 which claim 

priority to the same continuation-in-part application as the ’014 patent. A claim-construction 

order issued in the district-court actions, and the district court actions were settled prior to 

adjudication on the merits. 

g. DISH Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01267 (PTAB); DISH 

Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01280 (PTAB); DISH Network LLC v. 

Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01332 (PTAB); DISH Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., 
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IPR2020-01359 (PTAB); AT&T Services, Inc. v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2021-00556 (PTAB); 

AT&T Services, Inc. v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2021-00603 (PTAB); and AT&T Services, Inc. 

v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2021-00649 (PTAB) involved the ’026, ’791, ’388, and ’269 patents 

involved in the litigations with DISH identified above. Trial was instituted in the IPRs, but the 

IPRs were terminated as a result of a settlement agreement. 

h. The PTAB denied institution of inter partes review in DISH Network LLC v. 

Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01268 (PTAB); DISH Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., 

IPR2020-01281 (PTAB); DISH Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01333 (PTAB); 

and DISH Network LLC v. Broadband iTV, Inc., IPR2020-01360 (PTAB), which involved the 

’388, ’791, ’026, and ’269 patents involved in the litigations with DISH identified above.  

XII. RELIEF REQUESTED 

182. The proposed respondents have infringed and will continue to infringe the Asserted 

Patents as specified in Sections VII and VIII above unless the Commission prohibits the 

importation and sale within the United States after importation of the Accused Products. 

183. Accordingly, Complainant BBiTV respectfully requests that the United States 

International Trade Commission: 

a. institute an immediate investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act 

of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, into the proposed respondents’ violations of Section 337 

arising from the sale for importation into the United States, importation, and/or sale within the 

United States after importation of certain set-top boxes and systems and services including the 

same; 

b. schedule and conduct a hearing, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(c), for 

purposes of receiving evidence and hearing argument concerning whether proposed respondents 
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have violated Section 337 and, following the hearing, find that the proposed respondents have 

violated Section 337; 

c. issue a limited exclusion order, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d), excluding 

from entry into the United States the proposed respondents’ certain set-top boxes that infringe 

and/or are used to infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, one or more claims 

of the Asserted Patents, including, without limitation, the specific Accused Products identified in 

this Complaint and the exhibits hereto; 

d. issue orders, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), directing the proposed 

respondents to cease and desist from any of the following activities in the United States: 

importing, selling, offering for sale, leasing, offering for lease, renting, offering for rent, 

marketing, advertising, distributing, transferring (except for exportation), soliciting U.S. agents 

or distributors for sales, testing, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution, 

programming, repairing, maintaining, using, transferring, and other commercial activity relating 

to the proposed respondents’ infringement, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, of 

one or more claims of the Asserted Patents, including, without limitation, the specific Accused 

Products identified in this Complaint and the exhibits hereto; 

e. impose a bond, during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(j), on importation and sales of respondents’ products that infringe or are used to 

infringe; and 

f. grant all such other and further relief as is appropriate under the law, based 

upon the facts complained of herein and as determined by the investigation 
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Dated: April 22, 2022 Respectfully submitted, 
  
 /s/ Paul M. Bartkowski 
 Robert F. Kramer 
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Washington, D.C. 

In the Matter of 

CERTAIN DIGITAL SET-TOP BOXES AND 

SYSTEMS AND SERVICES INCLUDING THE 

SAME 

Investigation No. 337-TA-__ 

VERIFICATION TO COMPLAINT 

I , MILTON DIAZ PEREZ, declare in accordance with 19 CF.R. §§ 210.4 and 210.12(a) as 

follows: 

1. I am Chief Technology Officer of Broadband iTV, Inc., (''BBiTV") and am duly 

authorized to sign this Complaint; 

2. I have read the Complaint and I am aware of its contents; 

3. The Complaint is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass 

or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase to the costs of litigation; 

4. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief founded upon my 

reasonable inquiry, the claims and legal contentions of the Complaint are warranted by existing 

law or the establishment of new law; and 

5. The allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support after a 

reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on 

April 21, 2022. 

Milton erez 
Broadband iTV, Inc. 
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